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THIS IS R8 PROPERTY

R8 Property AS (The Company) is the mother compa-
rny of R8 Property AS (the Group), and 36 daughter
companies. The headquarter is located in Porsgrunn,
Telemark. Since the company was established in
2010, R8 Property haos built a solid property portfolio
in Skien, Porsgrunn, Sandefjord, Tensberg and Oslo.
The Properties are owned by R8 Property through single-
purpoase companies.

This spring, R8 Property has developed the company's new business strategy in
collaboration with Accenture. We're still dedicated to the development of moadern
and future-oriented commercial property, and this focus is at the heart of the stra-
tegy set towards 2025. We want to be a driving force when it comes to sustaina-
ble buildings. And we want to use technology and passion to inspire and enlighten
collaborators, politicians, other property developers, tenants and people about
how we can change the way we build and manoge property.

To take a further step with our technology commitment, R8 Property hired Wasim
Rashid and Daniel Bentes in January this year. They will build and develop our te-
chnology department, and came from DMNB where they respectively worked as EVP
Head of Platforms and Platform Strategy Lead. Their first project will be launched
when Powerhouse Telemark opens in the autumn of 2020, This might be a game
changer for the property business.

RB Property is an industry leader when it comes to customer satisfaction. 2019
was the fifth consecutive year with first place in the national survey, Norwegian
Tenant Index. The company is evolving every year to sustain and incregse the
customer satisfaction. This year R8 Property come in with a score of 88 cut of 100,
To adapt the customer needs regarding flexibility and services, we've acquired
Evolve Business Space - o coworking concept with 18 locations in Oslo, Drammen,
Tansberg, Fredrikstad and Porsgrunn. Evolve will have 3 flaors in Powerhouse Tele-
mark, and also has a floor in Kemmerherrelekkea.

Until now, we've only focused on commercial property. To establish and develop R8
Home, we hired the very experienced real estate agent Magnus Watvedt to have
axclusively focus on residential projects. This includes - amongst other projects -
Skien Brygge, which will be a new neighbourhood in Skien city centre.
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KEY FIGURES

OPERATIOMNAL 2019 2018
Market value of real estate portfolio (tNOK) 2 409 000 1731500
Total area (gross sgm) 112 850 20720
Ceccupancy rate (%) 853 B&.2
WAULT (vears) I3 &8
FINANCIAL

Rental income (tNOK) 99 755 70149
Profit before value adjustment (tNOK) -2539 11 882
Profit after tax (tNOK) 59177 60 733
EPRA earnings (tNOK) 7832 N 2&6
Met cash flow from investment octivities (tNOK) - 378 985 =128 770
Met nominal interest-bearing debt (tNOK] 1581 274 1123 762
Debt ratio {LTV) (%) 656 &4.9
Interest coverage ratio (ICR) (%) 04 1.25
Equity ratio (%) 304 295
NUMBERS PER SHARE

Earnings (NOK) 289 459
EFRA Earnings (NOK) 40 8.3
Cash earnings (MOK) -1.3 192
Met asset value - EPRA MNAY [NOK) 406.7 3774
EPRA NNMAY (NOK) 377 3467
Mumber of shares 1972 064 1344 500

(9



KEY FIGURES

MARKET VALUE 2019
2409 mNOK

RESULT 2019:
76.6 mNOK
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Eirik Engaas (39) started as our new CFO.
He's specialised within finance, property de-
velopment and investment analysis. He came
from IS5 Facility Services AS, where he wor-
ked as Nordic Head of Property for the Te-
lenor portfolio.

The new Kammerherrelekka quarter and the
Comfort Hotel Porsgrunn opened. The city's
population wos invited to entertainment,
cake, coffee and speeches from the mayor
Robin Kdass, R8 Property's CEOQ Emil Eriksred
and the hotel manager, Teo K. Luiso. The qu-
arter consists of o commercial property with
5 floors, as well as the hotel with 8 floors and
134 rooms.

Arkaden was nominated to become Marketer
of the Year, in a national competition direc-
ted by Markedsferingsforeningen i Oslo. This

was mainly because of all the events and
happenings Arkaden has offered to people
living in Skien. Arkaden was in competition
with big, national companies like DMNB, Mor-
wegian and Thon Hotels, who becaome the
winner.




APRIL

The official opening of Comfort Hotel Pors-
grunn was a successful event. The quests

were especially invited by Bane NOR Eien-
dom, Comfort Hotel Porsgrunn and RB Pro-
perty, and had an unforgettable night with

lovely food, live entertainment and speeches.

Petter Stordalen, the founder of Nordic
Choice Haotels and the most famous "son of
Porsgrunn® held an extroordinary and perso-
nal speech.

JUNE

R8 Property agreed to purchase the cowor-
king company Evolve Business Space. The
company was established in 2004, and has
18 locations in Oslo, Akershus, Tensberg,
Drammen, Fredrikstad and Porsgrunn. The
first port of the ogreement, 50% ownership,
was implemented in January 2020,

AUGUST

In coaperation with Skanska, we created
an event at Arendalsuka with the theme
"How to decrease the climate crisis by
focus on energy effective buildings®. The
speakers were i.e. from Snehetta, Skanska
and ZERO, and Emil Eriksred talked about
how important it is that the politicians are
positive and solution oriented, and that it's
possible to develop profitable projects by
building energy effective.

R8 Home was established. This is o dough-
ter company of RB Praperty, whose purpose
iz residentiol projects. Mognus Watvedt
was hired as the Managing Director. He
has more than 15 years of experience from
real estate, both as a director and real
estate agent.

We launched the news that R8 Property

is going to build Narner's new technology
centre: Polymer Exploration Centre. The
building is next to Powerhouse Telemark,
and will be a global research- and te-
chnology centre for the plastic industry.
With this centre, Morner will be one of the
world's best developers within sustainable
plastic solutions.



This became a month we won't ever forget, with huge ups and
adowns.

First of all, we raised mMNOK 130 in an emission targeting existing
and selected new investors. The capital will be used to further
growth and new investments, especially within sustainable property
projects.

In the aftermath of the emission, the financial newspaper Finansa-
visen publizhed an article with the intention to undermine R8 Pro-
perty's trust and reputation. The nine pages article, included strong
and severe accusations towards our CEQ Emil Eriksred and the
company. This article became our most demanding test regarding
crisis management, but it also gave us the possibility to check our
standing with our financial partners. It turned out that the article,
and the extro work we got because of it, resulted in even better
trust and connections with our investors, banks, board members,
financial partners and employees. They gave us their full support,
and we especially want to thank bath Carl Erik Krefting (Carucel)
and our Chair Gearge Aubert, who on their own initiative made
public statements that they were very sceptical to both the article
and the methods of journalism. The end game is that R8 Property
now is stronger than ever, because all of our financial partners and
stakeholders did renewed and extended due diligence on R8 Pro-
perty. Their feedback was that they still believe in us - and they still
invest in us.

We bought our first property in Oslo, Herrik Ibsens gt 40-42, an
ottroctive building next to The Royal Palace and Slottsparken.



NOVEMBER

For the fifth time in a row, RB Praperty
won the Norwegion Tenant Index as the
most preferred landlord among tenants.
We ot 88 points out of 100, which was
two points more than the runners up,
Aspelin Ramm and Entra.

HIGHLIGHTS

R8 Property and R8 Management were
recertified as Eco-lighthouse businesses
This is both a documentation and

a commitment that we are focused

on green, environmental solutions.

DECEMBER

Skien Brygge, which is o collaboration
between Bane NOR Eiendom, Skien
Boligbyggelag and R8 Property, signed
a letter of intent with the hotel dire-
ctor Teo K. Luisa about building a new
hotel: Comfort Hotel Skien Brygge.

To take a further step with our techn-
ology commitment, R8 Property hired
Waosim Roshid and Daniel Bentes. They
will build and develop our technology
department, and came from DNB
where they respectively worked as
EVP Head of Platforms and Platform
Strategy Lead.

We took over the Telenor building in Kongens gate in Skien. This building has solid lease
agreements, and a perfect location, next to the bus and taxi hub. The municipality has big

development plans for this area.



lLetter from CEQO

HISTORICAL AND CHALLENGING TIMES

M)

- uncertainty than

own nelghbour-

The future is uncertain

This erisis has a tremendous effect on aur daily life, bath personally and professionally.

The pandemic has hit everyone hard, including our employees, tenants and business partners. Luckily,
25% of our portfolio income is from public tenants, like Gassnova, Skatteetaten, NAV, Kriminalomsorgen
and HELFO. Further, another 25% of our portfolio income is from tenants we consider very solid, ie.
banks, insurance and IT companies. We've worked hard to build a strong portfolio, and now we truly see
the importance of stable and economically sound tenants.

Becouse of the uncertainty of the pandemic's further expansion, it's hard to predict the company's
situation during the next months and the years to come. Presently, some of our tenants are having dif-
ficulties paying rent, decreasing our income, resulting in the sad but necessary decision to temporary
and partly layoffs among our employees.

The times are more challenging than ever, and with that in mind, it's comforting and reassuring to lock
back on a year with extremely good financial results. In 2019 R8 Property generated the best profit
after tax ever. Although R8 Property had great results in the end of 2019, there's unfortunately no doubt
that the pandemic will have a negative impact on our financial statements this year. Further, the uncer-
tainty forces us to put some upcoming projects on hald.

A strong culture is essential

I've always been very proud of our culture, and our employees. And now, when everyone are remote
working and we're not able to meet on a regular basis over a coffee cup, it's extremely important that
every one of us still *feel” the culture in our hearts and minds. | have strong trust in my colleagues, |
know that they do everything possible to maintain their high degree of engagement and motivation.
R8's core values; trust, courage and engagement still makes sense in the worst global crisis we've ever
seen. We need to have trust in each other. We still need to have the courage to think positively and
challenge ourselves to new and innovative solutions. We need to feel the engagement to be able to be
innovative and make changes.

Maybe it's a paradox, but after o few years with discussions and internal workshops, R8 Property finally
has hired Accenture to help us develop our new business strategy. This strategy will be our guidance
for the next few years, both when it comes to the organization, communication, projects, technology,
employments and so on. The business strateqy will be finished before summer.

Proptech is the future

Every crisis creates possibilities, and makes us aware of unleashed potential. The corona pandemic
is no exception. We know that proptech is the future within our business, and that tenants are more
committed to both technology and sustainability. To greet this future and be innovators/early adop-
ters, we hired Wasim Rashid and Daniel Bentes this winter, to establish R8 Technology. They have
worked together in big companies like DNB, Telia and Schibsted, and have an extremely interesting
competence and experience. We will see the result of their first project already this autumn. We're very
lucky to have them in our family, and | know that they will have a crucial impact on the company in the
months and years to come.

Spaces as a service

In last year's annual report, | said that we have to develop our business model to adapt to the customer
needs regarding flexibility and services. To directly address our ambition, we bought Evolve Business
Space - a coworking concept with 18 locations in Oslo, Drammen, Tensberg, Fredrikstad and Porsgrunn,
Evolve will have 3 floors in Powerhouse Telemark, and also has a floor in Kammerherrelakka.




Letter from CEQO

A new era

As mentioned under "Highlights" in this annual report, 2019 was packed with unforgettable happenings.
Most importantly - both for us and the community - was the opening of the Kammerherrelekka quarter,
and the Comfort Hotel Porsgrunn. This city has had only ane hotel for the last century. The space that
used to be a hub for taxis and buses, now includes a beautiful hotel with 134 rooms, and welcoming
meeting rooms. The hotel delivered far beyond budget in 2019, and Porsgrunn is now able to compete
with other cities regarding national conferences.

In August we established R8 Home and hired Magnus Watvedt, to have exclusively focus on residential
projects. This includes - amongst other projects - Skien Brygge, which will be a new neighboaurhood in
Skien city eentre. In collaboration with Bane NOR Eiendom and Skien Boligbyggelag, we signed a letter
of intent with the hotel director Teo K. Luisa to develop Comfort Hotel Skien Brygge. This will be one of
our biggest and most exciting projects in the future.

Last but not least, most importantly during the autumn of 2019, we raised mMNOK 130 in an emission
targeting existing and selected new investors. In the oftermath of the emission, the financial newspa-
per Finansavisen published an article with the intention to undermine R8 Property's trust and reputati-
on. The article included strong and severe accusations towards myself and the company, and became
our most demanding test regarding crisis management.

| would like to thank our investors, board members, banks, financial partners and employees for step-
ping up for us, reaffirming their belief in R8 Property. Thanks to you, the end game is that R8 Property
now is stronger than ever.

In the end of the year, we bought our first property in Oslo, Henrik Ibsens gt. 40-42, an attractive buil-
ding next to The Royal Palace and Slattsparken, where Evolve will be the biggest tenant.

Also, for the fifth consecutive year, we won the Norwegian Tenant Index (Norsk Leietakerindeks / NLI)
for 2019 with the score of 88 out of 100. Net to forget that Arkaden won the NLI for shopping centres
for the second consecutive year,

Al in all, 1 still strongly believe that the future is bright, but we need to use

this global crisis to be even more aware of vnleashed potential and
new possibilitics. We need to maintain and develop our fantastic culture,
and we need to challenge vurselves and other collaborators.

-
4o\ e

Emil Eriksred, CEQ and founder
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Nev figures
Geographic exposure (area)
Osba
41%
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Porsgrunn Management Praject
40.6% propertics properties
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portfolio)
J34%
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compulsory social security
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15%
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5 - Other personal service octivities

1.1%

R - Arts, entertoinment ond recreation

1.1%

H - Transportation and storoge

Property portfolio

The Group’s management portfolio consists of 25 (14) properties with o total of 95 062 (70 022)
square meters. 8 of the properties are situated in Porsgrunn, 12 in Skien, 4 in Tensberg and 1 in
Sandefjord. As of 31 December 2019, this portfolic had a market value of 1881.0 (1 230.5) millions.
The occupancy was at 84.7 (85.3) per cent and the averoge rolling rent wos 1 508 (1 455) kroners
per square meters. The average duration of the existing lease ogreements was &2 (4.8) years.
The group's project portfolic consists of 7 projects. 1in Oslo, 4 in Porsgrunn, 1 in Tensberg and 1in
Skien. The Group uses Newsec for property valuations on o quarterly basis and oll market values
used in the bolonce sheet are based on valuations from Newsec. Voluction of the management

portfolio is performed on a property-by-property basis, using individual DCF models and taking
into the account the property's current charocteristics combined with the external appraiser's
estimated return requirements and expectations as to future market development.

=
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§ .t 3=
= 58 . — B3 F m =
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— ey s_ 3 T m = et (1] =9 3 e e —
E ¢ ¢ 93 BPE > 8 §E > g 8 SE
& o = 55 = 1 £ 2 Lo 23
> & S5 ¥z §5 = 32 5o = o5 L ¥ 55
£ 8 8232 32 £ §z B2 s 5% 2222
31122019 = =~ - o
Office 59235 51726 BF3 17 1MGE00 18764 33 TOB4l 1370 33 58 64 B5474 1142
Urban Estate 26730 20572 770 & 459500 17190 B84 31578 1535 BY 50 72 45713 147
Hotels 2097 B197 201 2 30000 34077 127 18928 2309 127 53 63 2199 2414
Total
manogemeant
portfclio 95062 80495 847 25 1881000 19787 61 121356 1508 &2 55 65 152416 1605
Project Office 17788 15719 B84 7 528000 29683 114
Total
project
portfolio 20498 15719 B84 7 DSIBEO000 29483 114
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proparty
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Project portfolio

The project portfolio consisted of four projects in 2019.

Powerhouse Telemark is a future-oriented project. With its high ambitions when it comes to
energy consumption, the Powerhouse Telemark differs from other projects. During its lifetime o
Powerhouse produces more renewable energy thon it uses for materials, production, operation,
renovation and demolition. Upon completion, this will be one of the most energy-efficient and
environmentally friendly office buildings in the world. Powerhouse Telemark is also aiming for
a BREEAM Excellent classification. The construction started in Q4 - 2018 and is on schedule
toward commencement during summer 2020. The project attrocts great interest from media
as well as the local community. The size of the building is 8.358 sgm and is leased to solid and
attractive tenants. The building will also be the future head office of all the companies in the

RE Group.

Eeks Gard is o renovation project in Radhusgato 2 in Skien. The building is located at the city
square and has an attractive location near public transportation, market place, shopping mall
(Arkaden) and the waterfront. The building will also hove an exterior renaissance that will
contribute greatly to the the overall look of the city square in Skien. This project finished in
January 2020, NAV Skien moved in to their new Activity Based Workspoce (ABW) focilities on
January 31st.

The Kammerherrelekko development project, joint venture with Bane NOR Eiendom AS, finis-
hed in the spring of 2019. The project consists of an office building (2.767 sgm), o hotel (6.282
sgm) and a parking garage with a capacity of 86 cars. The hotel building is fully let to Comfort
Hotel Porsgrunn. This project is located on the public transportation hub in Porsgrunn, and is
considered to be one of the most important development areas in Telemark in the years to
come.

Polymer Exploration Centre is a development project adjocent to Powerhouse Telemark. The
project (4,450 sqm) is customized for single tenant Norner AS, o Norwegian subsidiary of glo-
bal giant SCG Chemicals, and one of the leading entities within plastic R&D in the world. The
project will breck ground in May 2020, and is set to be finalized in the autumn of 2021.

Tenant lease overview

RB Property tenant base in the management portfolio comprises of both private and public
sector tenants with leoses up to 20 years. Public sector tenants upheld 24.2% of the maona-
gement portfolio by the end of December 2019, The 10 largest tenant's share of R8 Property's

rental income represents 43.0% of revenues.

Tenant in % of rent Sector
HELFO 12.4% Public
Comfort Hotel Porsgrunn 9.6% Private
Kriminalomsargen Region Ser 3.5% Public
Skien Spartsbar AS (O'Learys) 3% Private
Telener Norge AS 27% Public
Emerson Process Morway 256% Private
Gassnova 5F 24% Public
Gjensidige Forsikring ASA 23% Private
DB Bank ASA 23% Private
Asplan Viak AS 21% Private

Maturity profile in the management portfolio

Revenue axpiring #———a  Number of controcts expiring

45 000000 45

35000 000 E
25 000 000 2_5
15 000 000 E
5 000 003 ,_E':
MO

2000 201 02z 2023 2024 2025 2026 2007 Mas 29 2033 2034 2037
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CONPANY
STRUCTURE

R8 Property started 2019 with 3 property owning sub-groups in R8
Office, R8 Hotels and R8 Retail. During 2019 R8 Retail was renamed
R8 Urban Estate - a name better reflecting the underlying portfolio
of properties, location and tenants across different segments. Furt-
her, R8 Property added two new subgroups in 2019, both ownership
tools to the groups development projects within both commercial
and residential property in R8 Projects and R8 Home.

R8 Property's operational activities and management across pro-
perty owning sub-groups is organized in R8 Management and our
coworking business under R8 Evolve. R8 Technology is the group's
corporate leg leading our commitments and investment in techno-
logy and proptech.

R8 Property AS holds 100 percent of the shares in each sub-group,
with the exception of R8 Evolve in which the company holds 50 per
cent (R8 Property has an agreement to acquire the remaining 50%
over the coming years).




Company structure

The main purpose of the group's structure is to have flexibility in the futu-
re when the Group is aiming expand the portfelio and include other related
businesses. The company structure will continually be optimized to have flex-
ibility with regard to funding, ownership and key portners going forward.

*The company structure is updated st of May 2020,

R8 PROPERTY AS

SERVICE PROVIDERS

R8 MANAGEMENT AS

SERVICE PROVIDERS

RB EVOLVE AS

RB Urban Estate

AS
Mulighetenas Tollboden
By AS A5
Laugstol Dstveien
Eiendom AS b65-6467 AS
Henrik Ibsens-
gate & AS
Telemarksgaten
10 AS

i1

OPERATIONAL
R8 Office
AS
HE Kjelleveien Vinkelbygget AS
AS
MNordre
Porsgrunn Foksered 14 AS
MNaeringspark AS
Versvikvaien
Hesselberg- 6B AS
gaten 4 AS
Storgata 106 AS
Torggata 8
Skien AS Grenlikroken 5
AS
Kongens gate
204 AS

Valore

R8 Hotels
AS

Radmyrlia 20 AS

Bedriftsveien
52/58 AS

Vipeveian
51 A5

Storgata
171 AS

Kammerherra-
lokka AS

R8 Home
AS

DEVELOPMENT

R8 Projects
AS

R8 Technology

AS

Utsikten

Vestsiden
Terrasse AS

Dokkvegen
Utvikling AS

Dokkvegen 20
AS

Skien Brygge
Utvikling AS

Orbit
Technology AS

The companies Radhusgt 2 AS and HIG 40-42 Prosjekt AS has a tempo-
rary plocement as a subsidiary ot RB Froperty, It is expected that these
two companies are placed under the right segment no loter than 2021




The Nlanagement
o

Emil Eriksred returned as company CEQ on
January 1st 2019, ofter o year and a half
as Chair of R8 Property. He specializes in
investment, development and management
of commercial property. Emil has previously
worked as Chief Financial Officer for Hathen
Holding. He also has extensive experience as
an entrepreneur, a career he started in parallel
with the studies. Since 2010, he has worked
to build up an investment portfolio, which as
of December 2019 had a market value of 2.5
billion MOK.

irik Engaas

Eirik Engoos become CFO in R8 Property in
March 2019, Eirik has an MBA with specialization
in finance. His long and brond experience within
financial instruments, financial statement ana-
lysis, real estate, management and projects
is very important for RE Property. He plays a
crucial part of the Company's operational and
grawth strategies.

Eirk previously worked at the international
company 155 Facility Services AS for five years,
where he was Nordic Head of Property for the
Telenor portfolio.

Wasim Rashid

RB Property's strong focus on technology
resulted in the hiring of Wasim Rashid as
Chief Digital Officer in January 2020. Wasim
is specialized within new business models and
technology, and has a broad experience with

change manogement in big companies like
DB, Telio and Schibsted.




Ronny Sundvall

Ronry Sundwvall is specialized within marketing
and business growth. When he become the
managing directer of RB Management in 2014,
he had 8 years experience as managing director
at the biggest shopping center in Telemark,
Herkules. Together with the employees in R8
Management, Ronny is the lead for the group's
professional responsibility ond care of tenants.

Marianne Wollan

NG DIRECTOR R2 E

Marianne Wollon founded and established
Evolve Business Space 15 years ago, in August
2005. Evolve is a coworking concept with
18 locations in Oslo, Drammen, Tensberg,
Fredrikstad and Porsgrunn. They offer their
tenants  beautiful and central  locations,
combined with the possibility of working
ond networking with other tenants, across
industries, competence and experience.




NMagnus Watvedt
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Magnus Watvedt has over 15 years experience
from real estate, mainly as a real estate agent
in Oslo, where he also owned and managed
Privatmegleren Allé Eiendomsmegling.
Magnus is in charge of our residential
commitment and upcoming housing projects,
among others what is going to be our biggest
development project - Skien Brygge.

Tommy Thovsland

EVELOPMENT DIRE!

Altheugh Tommy Thovsland's official title is CEO
of RB Group, he delivers significont services to
RB Property, mainly to work with early phase
project development in our biggest projects.
Tommiy is educated chemical engineer, and has
experience as business developer in LEARMN.

Flin Tufte Johansen

[ == - Wi [ ) = i ]

Elin Tufte Johansen has more than 15 years of
experience within organizational development,
change management and leadership. She's
involved in several projects, especially within
employments and the strategic development
of R8 Property Elin also offers important
support for our managing directors and the
management team.




CORPORATE
OV ERNANCE

R8 Property has ambitions to exercise good corporate governance at a level
similar to listed companies. Through these ambitions we aim to strengthen
confidence in the company and contribute to the greatest possible value
creation over time. The objective is to professionalize the whole Compa-
ny; its shareholders, the board and the executive manogement through o
clear division of roles and responsibilities. R8 Property is currently in the
process of implementing the applicable Nerwegian code of practice for
corporate governance of 30 October 2014. The code of practice is avai-

lable on the Norwegian Committee for Corporate Governance homepage:
WAWWLNILIES NO.

The following report on corporate governance is done in alignment with
how listed companies report on corporate governance. Below is a descrip-
tion of how the Company has complied with the recommendation given by
MUES. The report covers each section of the code, and possible voriances
from the code are specified under the relevant section.




Implementation and reporting on corporate governance

The board wishes to apply goad corporate governance to contribute to a good trust-ba-
sed relationship between RB Property and the company's shareholders, the capital mar-
ket, and other stakeholders. The administration has in 2019 completed several tasks
regarding role clarity, resource allocation and the division of authorization and responsi-
bilities both within the Company and between the companies in the R8 Property. These
tasks are described in each relevant section.

Business

The Group's business is stated in §3 of the statutes: "The company's purpose is owning, ope-
rating and rental of real estate, owning shares in other companies, investing in stocks and
other securities, and other activities that are naturally associated with this® Main strateqy
and objectives within this framework are stated in the Board's annual report.

Capital and dividends
EQUITY

The Group's equity as of 31 December 2019 was 778.1 (532,3) million and gives an equity
ratio of 30.4 (29.4) per cent. The Board considers the equity situation as satisfactory and
in line with the company's objectives, strategies, and risk profile. R8 Property is depen-
dent on a satisfoctory financial flexibility, and the Board has therefore set the ambition
that the relationship between net interest bearing debt and gross fair value will be in
the range of 6065 per cent.

DIVIDEND

The Group has lang-term growth objectives and the growth rate is high. To ensure the
financial flexibility to sustain the high growth rate the main short-term principle is not
to distribute large dividends to shareholders. Mevertheless, when results are strong, mo-
derate dividends are accepted. It is considered essential that the level of dividend does
not set significant limits to planned investment projects.

Authorization

The Articles of Association do not contain pravisions allowing the Board to decide that
the company will buy back or issue shares. It is also not issued other authorizations to
the Board of RB Property.

In the general assembly in April 2019 the Board of Directors was given the power of
attormey to increase the share capital by up to 394 737 new shares with pair value of
NOK 250, total NOK 150 000 060. The abjective for the proposal was the Board's wish
to be able to issue new shares to support the company’s growth, and strengthen the
capital reserve.

It was also decided that the preferential right of the existing shareholders pursuant to
Section 10-4 of the Nerwegion Public Limited Companies Act may be deviated from if
new shares are issued within the frame described.

The power of attorney also included share capital increase against contribution in kind,
cf Section 10-2 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, and allows share capital
increase regarding mergers pursuant to Section 13-5 of the Morwegian Public Limited
Companies Act.

The described power of attorney is valid for one year until the company's Annual General
Meeting in 2020.

Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with related parties

There is only one class of shares in R8 Property and all shares have equal rights. There
are no voting rights restrictions in the statutes.

R8 Property issued 342 331 new shares in 2019, through a private placement in Septem-
ber 2019 - generation gross proceeds of NOK 130 085 780. There has also been several
transactions of shares in 2019, both between existing shareholders while also introdu-
cing new investors.

The change in shareholder composition demands increased professionalism in the
company's communication with shareholders to ensure equal treatment of the sharehol-
ders. In order to support R8 Property's ongoing professionalization, and offer flexibility
and value to our investors, the company and the company's shares were registered in
the Norwegian VPS5 Security Center (Verdipapirsentralen - VPS) at july 31st 2019, The
company presented all its quarterly reports in 2019 to the public (through rBproperty.no)
to provide the same information to all its shareholders and stakeholders. In the event of
a share issue in the future, existing shareholders in R8 Property have preferential rights
to the capital increase.
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The preferential rights are safequarded by sharing information in good time for the exis-
ting shareholders. All transactions with related parties is subject to an independent
valuation from a chartered accountant or other expert. This is to ensure that transacti-
ons with close associates and intercompany agreements are carried out correctly on an
arm's length basis.

Guidelines on conflicts of interest have been developed and included in the instructions
for the company's board of directors, and to ensure that directors inform the board if
they have a significant direct or indirect interest in an agreement being entered by the
company. To avoid unintentional conflicts of interest, the company will present an over-
view which identifies the various roles of its directors, the offices they hold and so forth.
This overview will in the future be updated when required and in the event of changes
in the board's composition.

Transferability

There are no restrictions on share transferability.

The shares are considered liquid with a shareholder base of 47 investors as of 31.12.2019.
During 2019 the company entered into an agreement with Arctic Securities to be R8
Property's preferred broker for transactions of shares and provide a marketplace for
buyers and sellers. The board considers good liquidity of the share to be positive for the
company to be regarded as an attractive investment. The company also works actively
to attract interest from the investor market.

The executive management holds information meetings with existing shareholders, and
meets with potential new shareholders and investors.

General meetings

The beard encourages as many as possible of its shareholders to exercise their rights by
attending the General meeting. The 2020 Annual General Meeting is scheduled to take
place on May 20th, 2020. The company's financial calendar is decided by the Board.
Notice of the general meeting, with comprehensive documentation is made available to
shareholders no later than 7 days before the meeting takes place.

Due to corona pandemic and the capacity in the administration, the company will in
2020 be unable to make the information available 21 days in advance as recommended
by NUES,

All relevant decuments relating to the general assembly will be accurate so that all sha-
reholders can decide on the issues that are submitted to be negotiated.

The chair will ensure a thorough and fair conduct of the general assembly. A chairperson
opens the meeting and the general assembly elects the chairperson. R8 Property has
not yet prepared its own procedures that ensures an independent chairperson for the
general assembly.

The directors and senior executives are present at the general assembly together with
the auditor.

Shareholders who are unable to attend are encouraged to appoint a proxy. The atta-
ched summons to the general assembly should be attached to related documents and
form of proxy. This form has been prepared so that it will allow voting on each case to be
negotiated, and candidates for election. In the general assembly summons, the procedu-
res relating to participation and voting, as well as use of proxy, are explained.

Minutes from the general meeting is sent to the shareholders ot the latest 14 days after
the meeting.

Nomination committee

The NUES recommendations call for the appointment of a nomination committes. R8
Property does not yet have a nomination committee. However, the company aims to
appoint a nomination committee at the general meeting in 2021 to be prepared for any
future changes in the shareholder composition. The committee will then be independent
of the board and the executive management. Members of the nomination committee
and its chair will be elected by the general meeting and their remuneration will be de-
termined by the general meeting.




Corporate assembly, board of directors and independence

The Company does not have a corporate assembly due to its small number of
employees. The board currently has six shareholder-elected members. Board mem-
bers and the chair of the board are elected by the Annual General Meeting each
year, The board's composition is intended to secure the interests of the sharehol-
ders in general. The background and experience of board members are presented
on the company's website and in this annual report.

However, five of the six board members are independent of RB Property's executive
management and significant commercial partners. Aceording to the NUES® prin-
ciples, the majority of the shareholder-elected members of the board should be
independent of the company’s executive personnel and material business conta-
cts. It is recommended that "at least two of the members of the board elected by
sharsholders should be independent of the company’s main shareholder(s)”. This is
the case in today's board. The five independent shareholders are Runar Renningen,
Leif Oddvin Jensen, Christina Sundby, George Emil Aubert and Knut Brathen.



One board member is a part of the executive management of RB Property or clo-
sely related to the main shareholder. This is:

- Emil Eriksred is the founder of the company and the main shareholder.

- Tommy Thovsland is CEQ of the entire R8 Group (mother) while still being hired
to work with development projects for RB Property. Tommy also holds 20.000
shares in RB Property.

To counteract independence issues the odministration hos developed routines and
guidelines that ensures equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with
related parties. It is not expected thot there will be changes in the Board compo-
sition at the Annual General Meeting in May 2020. There has been consistently
good ottendance at the Boord meetings in 2019, The Board's expertise is consi-
dered substantial with regards to economy, market understanding, and business
operations.

The Boaord currently consists of five men and one woman,

The work of the board of directors

The board has the overall responsibility for managing the company and for super-
vising the chief executive officer and the company's activities. Its principal tasks
includes determining the company's strategy and monitering its operational imple-
mentation. It also holds a control function to ensure acceptable management of
the company's assets. The board appoints the CED.

Instructions which describe the rules of procedure for the board's work and its
consideration of matters have been adopted by the board. The division of labour
between the board and the CEQ is specified in greater detail in standing instructi-
ons for the CEQ. Instructions for the management clarifies the duties, powers, and
responsibilities of the CEQ. The CEOQ is responsible for the company's executive
management. Responsibility for ensuring that the board conducts its work in an
efficient and correct manner rests with the chair.



The board establishes an annual plan for its meetings, and evaluates its work and
expertise at the end of each meeting. Also, once a year, the board evaluates its
awn work and that of the CEQ. As of 31 December 2019, R8 Property has not esta-
blished an audit committee or remuneration committee. |t is considered as part of
the Board's evaluation whether it is appropriate to establish these committees in
2020.

Risk management and internal control
RISK AREAS AND GENERAL RISK MAMAGEMENT

Through its activities, the company has earned substantial financial assets that
are exposed to several risk factors. Most of these factors are directly or indirectly
affected by macrosconomic situation such as interest rates, the letting market,
the property development market and so on. The financial risk has been revised
and presented to the board through a new financial strategy.




The strategy has been discussed by the board in 2019 and the administration reports
to the board in each meeting with regards to relevant KPls within the following risk
areas: overall funding, operations and liquidity, interest rote risk, and financial leverage.
The target level of each KPI is revised yearly. During 2019 several measures have been
implemented or initiated to prevent and reduce risk. In addition to the contents in the
financial strategy the following measurements are made in addition to others:

LEGAL RISK

During 2019 the company has hired legal assistance when considering agreements with
substantial obligations such os large rental agreements, turnkey contracts in develop-
ment projects and so on. Although there is a cost associated to buying legal services, it
is considered important to reduce the risk in agreements with potentially high financial
consequences.

MARKET (PROPERTY VALUE) RISK

Each quarter the company abtains professional third-party valuations of its properties
to ensure that the values presented in the reports are as accurate as possible, and to
become aware of market changes as early as possible. Also, the company considers the
property value market risk when setting the target levels in the financial strategy.

MARKET (INCOME) RISK

The Company's income is mainly based on leases and the average duration is continuo-
usly monitored. R8 Property seeks to diversify the different maturities on the different
leases to spread risk. Also, the portfolio is diversified when it comes to both industry and
geographical segments. To counteract on the market risk related to the letting activity
the company has a high degree of service to its tenants. For the fifth consecutive year

the company won the Norwegion Tenant Index, o research survey measuring the degree
of content and satisfaction for the tenonts.

The company believes that providing good services to its’ tenants help reduce the let-
ting risk.

Guidelines are made to ensure that all tenants with expiring contracts the next year
are contacted. Also, when new lease agreements are negotiated, gaining long term con-
tracts is a main objective. The focus on development projects with high environmental
and energy standards, such as Powerhouse Telemark, has proven important to be able
to sign long-term lease agreements and to diversify the risk over many years.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The financial strategy contains several KPls set up to reduce the interest rate risk. For
instance, interest coverage ratio, average time to maturity (hedges) and percentage of
fixed interest rate. As an example, minimum 30 percent of the current interest-bearing
debt have fixed interest rates. This fixed rates percentage will increase in H1 2020, The
setup of the company's debt structure is considered continually, to obtain the desired
diversification and financial flexibility.

OPERATIONAL RISK

The debt coverage ratio (DCR) (net income from property management / total debt
service) is a measure of the cash flow available to pay current debt obligations. The ra-
tio states net income from property management as a multiple of debt obligations due
within the period, including interest and principal. The DCR is an important KPl and will
be closely monitored and reported to the board in each meeting. The target for the debt
coverage ratio is set in the Company's financial strateqgy.
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The operational risk in R8 Property also relates to human error or system failure asso-
ciated with daily operations. During 2019 the company expanded its workforee consi-
derably to ensure adequate resources for all tasks and mitigate the risk and vulnera-
bility connected to key employees. Further, the board members have very significant
knowledge and experience within property and do contribute with their expertise when
needed.

GEMERAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND REPORTING TO THE BOARD

The board is briefed on developments on the risks facing the company on a continuous
basis through the operating reports. The administration prepares periodic operating re-
ports which are considered at the boord meetings. These reports are based on manage-
ment reviews of the various ports of the business, and contain an update of the status
concerning important operational conditions, financial conditions, project development
and a deseription of the status in risk areas. In addition, quarterly financial reports are
prepared and reviewed by the board and presented to the public through the company
website and social media.

The financial KPls are followed up through periodic reports along with updates of fore-
casts for the year. Reporting dlso includes non-financial key figures related to the va-
rious business areas.

Balance sheet items are reconciled and documented on a continuous basis throughout
the year. Significant profit and loss accounts and accounts related to direct and indirect
taxation are also reconciled on a continuous basis.

INTERMAL CONTROL

Risk management and internal control is addressed by the board. The board also re-
views the external auditor's findings and assessments after the interim and annual
financial audits. The auditor's report is presented by the auditor in board meetings
and reviewed by the board. There are eight employees in the Company as of 31. De-
cember 2019. Because of significant agreements with related companies, many of the
authorizations invalve key employees in related companies such as R8 Consulting and
R8 Management. The authorizations are given through contractual agreements and
follow recognized principles of authorization. The board performs an annual review of
risk areas and the internal control system. The review will seek to pay attention to the
recommendation set by NUES, such as:

changes relative to previous years' reports in respect of
material risks and the company's ability to cope with changes
in its business and external changes

the extent and quality of management's routine monitaring

of risks and the internal control system

the extent and frequency of management's reporting

to the board an the results of such menitoring

whether reporting makes it possible for the board to carry out
an overall evaluation of the internal control situation in the company
and how risks are being managed

instances of material shortcomings or weaknesses in internal
how well the company's external reporting process functions

]



Remuneration of the board of directors Company takeovers

Directors' fees are determined by the General Meeting. These fees are based on the The Board has not issued guidelines related to the receipt of bids for the compa-
Board's responsibility, expertise and time taken as well as the complexity of the bu- ny's shares. In 2020 the offer will be managed within the confines of the law and in
siness, and are not related to results. The board members are not awarded options. terms of equal treatment of shareholders and their interests. Ordinary operations
For 2019 the remuneration was NOK 75 000 for the ordinary boord members. The will as far as possible be shielded from such transactions. The Board does not in-
Chair had an active role in the company in 2019 and the remuneration was NOK 200 tend to prevent or obstruct any takeover bid for the company or its shares, but will
000. Further information on the various board members' remuneration is provided in ensure that shareholders have sufficient time and information to be able to form a
note 11 of the financial statements. view of a possible offer for the company's business or shares.

Remuneration of executive personnel The Board will always ensure that the shareholders' common interests are safe-

quarded.

The current remuneration far company CEO has been settled by the Chair in consul-
tation with other board members. Senior executives in the company will be subject

to a stock option program, starting in 2020. There will be a set number of shares Slacisar
offered to each executive, with a duration of up to three years. Senior executives' The company has no audit committee, and the Board itself oversees
remuneration is further described in note 11 in the financial statement. self-evaluation of the Board’s werk. In 2019, the Group’s auditor, EY,

has undergone the following tasks related to fiscal year 2019:
Information and communication
- Presented the main features of the audit work to the board
- Participated in the board meeting related to the 2019
annual financial statements
- Confirmed that the requirements for auditor independence are met

The board has decided that the company seeks transparency to secure the general
interest and shareholders' interests in the company. An annual financial ealendar
is set which includes the dates of any quarterly report and the dates for the pre-
sentation of the annual report. All quarterly ond annual reports are published on
the company's website: rBpropertyno. The annual report and the minutes of the *  Sent an overview of services other than audit services that are

General Meeting are presented in English. This is to prepare information that will provided to the Company

be relevant and beneficial in the future in terms of attracting foreign investors and s ) -

capital markets. The company also uses the press, social media and the website to The Board reports on the auditor's total remuneration between auditing and other

inform the public about milestones and news regarding the company. Transactions services at the Company's ﬁ*’_'“"”f’l General Meeting. The Meeting approves the
of a significant nature and those of public interest will be made public through the choice of ouditor ond the auditor's fee each year.

media or press conferences. Through the company's established principles for inves-

tor communication, the board has determined guidelines for financial reporting and

other information.
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Both R8 Property ond R8 Management are recently re-certified Eco-lighthouse businesses, and work
prooctively to reduce the environmental impact of the business. The Group seeks to reduce the car-
bon footprint and set an example of how to develop sustainable projects for the future: Buildings that
contribute to local energy collection and production, reuse of water, green roofs that contribute to
attenuation, and sustainable use of local materials and suppliers. When establishing new buildings
or when renovating existing buildings, RB Property focuses on measures giving positive effects to the
environment. Measures may include replacement of ventilation, better heat recirculation, energy-saving
lighting, and arganizing electric vehicle parking. This year we will introduce emission totals/ emission
accounting as a part of our standard operations, and further seek to employ this to both our property
portfolio and tenants.

POWERHOUSE TELEMARK

In January, CNM Style published the article "The most anticipated buildings set to shope the world in
2020°. Amongst 10 global buildings, Powerhouse Telemark was the only one in Europe to be mentioned,
next to Berlin Brandenburg Airport. There is no doubt that to greet the future in a sustainable way, ener-
ayplus buildings will be part of the solution. Powerhouse Telemark will become a signature building for all
of Telemark and o world class eco-building that challenges traditional property culture and architecture.
The building will be finished surmmer 2020, and we aim to build more powerhouses in the years to come.
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One of the most important tosks associated with a better community is to create and contribute to
increased employment. Through its business and activities R8 Property contributes positively to em-
ployment in the operating regions. Several major construction projects contribute to significant em-
ployment with subcontractors. The Group also invests heavily in urban development with the desire to
contribute to city centers in terms of new jobs, activities and quality of life.

During the last year we've donated money to build a school in Sierra Leone. Sami Town School is a se-
condary school with 350 pupils, and one of the employees in RB Management has been on site to help
out with the building process.

Our partnership with Lyk-7 & daughters has been helpful to several youths with personal challenges,
and we'll continue our collaboration with this great organization. Frog Online Identity works to empo-
wer odolescents and young odults to participote in social venues, basic educational progroms, and
employment. The goal is to improve the individuals” quality of life so they find the motivation to go
back to school or work and through this contribute to positive development for the individual and the
local society.

R8 Flying Start: Yvonne Aasbe, managing director R8 Edge, the winner
Maritsa Kissamitaki and Emil Eriksred, CEO and founder R8 Property.

CHITSTAINABIE EFOYOTE [

RB is one of Odds Ballklubb's major
sponsors. Odds Baollklubb is the most
environmental and sustainable football
club in Nerway. Odd was the first Nor-
wegian football elub to pravide energy to
the stadium with solar panels.

Because of the corona pandemic, it's still
unsure whether there will be played any
football in the national series this year
Regardless, we still take part in digital
meetings with other sponsors, and we
also want Odd to be a collaborator in re-
lation with Powerhouse Telemark.

For the third year in a row, we named
the winner of R8 Flying Start. In collabo-
ration with Innovation Norway Telemark
and Vekst | Grenland we established this
competition for entrepreneurs 3 vears
ago. The winner in 2019 was Maritsa Kis-
samitaki and her company Future Synt-
hesis. Her praduct is a mechatronic head,
which ean use and test different techno-
logies, sensors, motors, mechatronic, au-
tomation, 30 printing and microphones
e.q. She received the prize at the Entre-
preneurship Week, which was a free one-
year lease agreement with R8 Property,
as well as 70 hours of counselling from
R8 Consulting, R8 Edge ond R8 Property's
tounder, Emil Eriksred.



R8 TUSEN!TAKK FOR smTTEm I 2019

In addition to the ogreements mentioned above, R Property and the R8 Group contribute with both The MRK Telethon is a yearly event where we contribute with money as well as volunteering calls to ot-
money and/or services to a wide variety of clubs and organizations. We are dedicated to children and her companies (“ringedugnad®). It is the largest information campaign and fundraising event in Norway,
youth, and therefore it's natural to support different football clubs, theatre groups et cetera. Most of and with the funds from 2019's Telethon, CARE will make a better life for women in some of the world's
these sponsorships are given locally in Grenland. Also, we have a *fund® for all R8 employees, where most vulnerable areas.

they can apply for economical support for their own (or their children's) organizations.



THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

GEORGE EMIL AUBERT
CHAIR OF THE BOARD

George Emil Aubert is educated IT
engineer, and has a brood business
experience. He was one of the foun-
ders of Syscom AS in Oslo, where he
worked for 246 years until he moved
back to Skien in 2014. He's CEO of
the family businesses Aubert Invest
and Holta & co, as well as the en-
dewment of Sonja & Emil Aubert.

George is also Chaoir or board mem-
ber of Telemark Museum, Aubert In-
vest, Holta & co, Skiens Aktiemolle,
Broerne &, Trebua lnvest, Tenera, Stif-
telsen Backe, Vauvert and Hevund's
fund. George owned and controlled
66700 shares i R8 Praperty at De-
cember 31st 2019,

TOMMY THOVSLAND
BOARD MEMBER

Tommy is educated as a chemical
engineer at Telemark University Col-
lege in Porsgrunn and has experien-
ce as business developer at LEARN
AS. Although Tommy is employed in
a different company, he delivers sig-
nificant services to R8 Property and
is hired to work with development
projects. Tommy Thovsland become
CEO of the entire R8 Group in March
2018, but still works with early phase
project development for R8 Praperty.
Tommy owned and controlled 20,000
shares | R8 Property at December
31st 2019,



KNUT BRATHEN
BOARD MEMBER

Krut has an MBA from Bl and has
been the CEO of the family Office
company Ing. K.ABrdthen AS (IKAB
AS) since 1990. In 2006 he establis-
hed Grenland Barnehagedrift, which
he managed until 2016 when the
company was sold to Laerings-
verkstedet.

Knut Brathen is also board member in
Grenland Energy AS and Safelink AS.
Krut owned and controlled 179198
shares in R8 Property at December
31st 2019

CHRISTINA SUNDBY
BOARD MEMBER

Christina Sundby, Runar Renningen
and Leif Oddvin Jensen were elected
as new board members at the Gene-
ral Assembly in April 2019. Christina is
CFO of Carucel Holding AS, and has
more than 30 years experience within
finance, shipping, property and board
work. She has an MBA from Fribourg
in Switzerland. Christina owned and
controlled 1.500 shares in B8 Property
at December 31st 2019, She is also
related to Carucel Invest AS and Carl
Erik Krefting, which owned and con-
trolled 64.657 shares in R8 Property
AS ot December 31st 2019,

RUNAR RONNINGEN
BOARD MEMBER

Runar has over 20 years experien-
ce within financial journalism, asset
management and investments. His
education is from NHH, where he got
an MBA in finance, and also beca-
me a European sertificated financial
analyst. Runar hos also completed o
master course in negotiations at Har-
vard University. Runar was CEQ of
Pioneer Group from 2010-2019, and
established Oslo Caopital Partners AS
in 2019 together with Martin P. Hoff.
Runar owned and controlled 10.000
shares in RE Property at December
st 2019,

LEIF ODDVIN JENSEN
BOARD MEMBER

Leif Oddvin graduated from Bl with
a degree in accounting and auditing.
He has experience from financial pe-
sitions in different companies. Leif
Oddvin works in the family office,
Bredrene Jensen AS, and is current-
ly head of the company. He is also
a board member in a wide range of
companies.

Leif owned and controlled 228711

shares in RE Property at December
st 20719,



R8 PROPERTY

REPORT FROM THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

2019 has been a year of continued growth and a strong emphasize on project
development. Despite significant costs related to early phase project develop-
ment, the financial results came out as good as expected. Operating revenues
increased from NOK 83.7 million for 2018 to NOK 113.4 million in 2019, and net
profit came in at NOK 59.2 million. Fair-value adjustments for investment pro-
perties were up NOK 78.7 million from 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2019.

THE COMPANY

RE8 Property AS is the mother company in the Group. The Group's properties are pri-
marily comprised of office premises, healthcare, retail and hotel space. The business
is organized in parent company R8 Property AS with subsidiaries. The head office is
in Porsgrunn. The properties have a market value of mNOK 24090 (mNOK 1731.5).
The portfolio consists of properties and development projects in Skien, Porsgrunn,
Sandefjord, Tensberg and Oslo. The Group's purpose is to acquire, develop and own
properties in central and attractive locations. In addition, the company also develops
service functions through RB Management and has a set goal to have Norway's most
satisfied tenants (we scored 88 points and first place for Sth year in a row in recent
survey).

MARKET ACTIVITIES

There were several significant transactions in B8 Property in 2019, In Q2 the second
phase of the private placement from 2018 were completed, adding 6 new properties
to our portfolio located in Skien, Porsgrunn and Tensberg. Also in G2, R8 Property
signed a letter of intent to acquire our first property in Oslo - Henrik Ibsens gate 40-
42 - a transaction that was completed in Q4. In Q3 we signed a letter of intent to
purchose Kongens Gote 204 in Skien, Telenor regional headguarter, this tronsaction
was also completed in Q4.

RB Property has over time been searching for the proper way to facilitate the trend
towards flexibility and simplicity for tenants - resulting in an ogreement in Q2 to
acquire coworking company Evolve Business Space. The first phase of the transacti-
on was completed in Q1 this year, with subsequent transactions - to complete the
purchase - over the next couple of years.
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Annual rent for the company’s properties has increased from NOK 701 million in
2018 to NOK 998 million by the end of 2019. As of 31 December 2019, R8 Property
had @ management portfolio of 25 properties totaling 95 062 square meters and 7

projects totaling 17 788 square meters.

SEVERAL PROPERTIES WERE ACQUIRED THROUGH 2019:

Address Area(sgm)  Ownership City Segment  Aguisition
Dstvelen 045 - 467 22413 100% Tensberg  Retail o
Redmyrlia 343 100% Skien Valore Q2
Vipeveien 51 5418 100% Parsgrunn  Malore Q2
Badrifteveien 52-58 6 282 100% Skien Valere Q2
Storgata 171175 1927 100% Porsgrunn Valore Q2
Langbrygega 1 3284 100% Skien Betail Q2
Henrik Ibsensgate 40-42 1927 100% Dele Office Q4
Kongens Gate 204 3286 100% Skien Office 24

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

To secure a profitable growth, the
Group's strategy is to have an ongeing
portfolio in project development. The
Kammerherrelokka project finished in
Q2 2019 with a grand opening of both
the office building and hotel. The Group
had four on-going projects in 2019,
Henrik Ibsens gate 40-42 in Oslo, Power-
house Telemark and Palymer Exploration
Center in Porsgrunn and Eeks Gdrd in
Skien.

RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Both the administration and the Board
assesses risk on an ongoing basis. Risk
management is carried out by the ad-
ministration under policies approved by
the Board. The Group's risk factors con-
sist of financial and non-financial risks.

Financial risk

In 2019 the financial risks of the Group
have been monitored through the KPls
set forth in the financial strategy. Seve-
ral risk areas are established and repor-
ted on a reqular basis. The target level
of each KPI have been decided by the
board in 2019. The Group seeks a good
balance between debt and equity. The
Group has defined o target for the Lo-
an-To-Value ratio of approximately 45-
70 per cent. The Group is exposed to
interest rate risk. Changes in interest
rate levels will have an impact on the
Group's cash flow. The risk is managed
by actively using interest rate swaps
and by spreading maturities. The target
is to obtain fixed interest rates at mini-
mum 35-60 percent of the debt portfo-
lio, average remaining term to maturity

of 2-7 years and to diversify the ma-
turity structure. Refinancing risk is re-
duced by entering long-term loans. Li-
quidity risk is monitored and managed
through ongoing cash management and
frequent reporting. There are covenants
in the Group's bank loan agreements. At
31 December 2019, the Group "was not
in breach of any covenants®

Market risk

The market volue of the Group's pro-
perty portfolio is affected by cyelical
fluctuations in the economy, A decrea-
se in the market value will reduce the
Group's Equity and increase Loan-to-Va-
lue ratios. To reduce the risk concerning
changes in the market the Group limits
exposures to certain industries and
groups of tenants. There is always a risk
that vield changes in the market will re-
duce the value of the portfolio and cou-
se changes in loan-to-value ratios.

To reduce the risk of sudden changes
in the Company's property values the
value of the portfolio is monitored on a
quarterly basis by independant external
experts in valuation of properties.

Credit risk

The Group seeks to reduce the credit
risk by obtaining a diversification in the
tenant portfolio. As of 31 December,
242 percent of the portfolio consists
of public tenants and 758 percent of
private tenants. Also, there is a spread
between different industries and geo-
graphical exposure between five diffe-
rent cities/ areas.

Thraugh 2019 there has also been a fo-
cus on obtaining tenants with a higher
credit rating, and the company has par-
ticipated and won several public pro-
curements.

Development risk

R8 Property’s development activity may
involve risk related to project costs,
future letting ratio, level of rent, cost
overruns, delays, delivery shartfalls and
market developments. To reduce the
development risk, the Group has hired
personnel with relevant experience and
knowledge in addition to using external
resources, for instance legal expertise,
when needed. The Group will continue
to actively manage resource needs due
to a large project pipeline.

(3 he )




Reputational risk

R8's brand and reputation are impor-
tant advantoges in competition with
other companies. The Company focuses
on maintaining the positive brand and
preventing negative issues concerning
the Group.

RESTRUCTURING

Thraugh 2019 there has been restructuring
and optimization of the Group structure
to be better prepared for future growth.
We have established two subsidiaries; R8
Horme AS and R8 Projects AS. The share-
holders and the issued shares in R8 Pro-
perty are not affected by the additions.
All subsidiaries of RB Property are owned
100 percent, excent Kammerherrelokka AS
(which is owned 50 percent), Dokkvegen
Utvikling AS (which is owned 50%) and R8
Evolve AS (* formalized January 3rd 2020
in which RB Property has a 50% ownership
- althaugh there is an agreement in ploce
to purchase the remaining outstanding
shares over the next couple of years).

During the year R8 Property, including sub-
sidiaries, acquired 100 percent of Henrik
Ibsens gate 4042 Oslo AS, Kongens Gate
20A AS, Pstveien 665-667 AS and Valo-
re AS. Further the company co-founded
Dokkvegen Utvikling AS with a 50 percent
ewnership..

ORGANIZATION AND
WORKING ENVIRONMENT

RB Property had eight employees as of
31 December 2019. Seven of them are
men, and we will strive to get a better
gender balance in the future. This is
twice as many employees as in 2018
There was no long-term or short-term
absence in 2019. The work environment
is good although the work pressure at
times is high. The board consists of 5
men and 1 woman, The Board will con-
tinue to strive to improve the gender
balance. There were no injuries or acci-
dents within the Group in 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

R8 Property works in accordance with the
principles of conducting transparent bu-
siness to build and maintain a high level
of trust among shareholders, banks and
financial institutions, tenants, and sodiety
in general.

CORPORATE SOCIAL

RESPONSIBILITY

The Group strives to constantly improve
and to operate in accordance with respon-
sible, ethical, and honorable business prin-
ciples. The three core areas of contribution
to society are environment, social engage-
ment and community support.

Exterior environment

The Group aims to conduct business so
that the impact on resources and the
environment is kept to a minimum and
well within the requirements imposed
by autherities and contracting parties.

GROUP ACCOUNTS

Going concern

The financial statements have been pre-
pared based on the going concern as-
sumption, This is based on an evaluation
of the financial position end budgets
and forecasts for 2020. R8 Property
group has an equity of NOK 778 milli-
on and positive result in 2019, The group
has short term debt that is due in De-
cember 2020. The company has been in
dialogue with the banks, and they have
confirmed their intention of renewing
the loan focilities depending on formal
approval. Liquidity management is an
important and prioritized task, especial-
ly due to high activity and costs related
to project development.

The board was pleased with the priva-
te placement in 2019 that generated
gross proceeds of NOK 130 millien, and
the company will also, if necessary, take
actions in 2020 to improve the liquidity
situation.

Events after 31 December 2019 have a
significant impact on the financial sta-
tements, and the company follows the
situation closely and is prepared to take
the octions necessary: see 'Outlook’

Financial risk

The financial statements show that the
Group had another year of strong results
in 2019. The result comes from both net
income in property management and
growth in property values. Profit before
tax amounted to NOK 76.6 million (705
million), up by 6.2 million from the year
before, and close to the expected result.
MNet profit amounted to NOK 59.2 million
{60.7 million). The profit includes a chan-
ge in value of investment properties of
MNOK 78.7 million (37.6 millien). Fair-valus
for investment properties is NOK 2 409.0
million (1 731.5 million). The financial re-
sults are in line with expectations going
into 2020, but the risks have increased
in 2020 due to the Covid19 virus, see
'‘Cutlook’

Statement of income,
balance sheet, and
statement of cash flows

The annual report has been prepared in
compliance with IFRS. This accounting
principle has been applied consistently
throughout 2015,




Income

Total operating income for the Group in-
creased from NOK 83.7 million in 2018 to
113.4 million in 2019. The Group's financicl
income totaled MOK 31 million (1.3 mil-
lion). Financial costs, primarily interest
costs and other costs associated with the
Group's financing activities, totaled NOK
474 million (303 million). Profits before
tax was NOK 76.6 million (705 millian),
and total comprehensive income after
tax was NOK 59.2 million (0.7 million).
Tax expense was NOK 175 million (9.7
million).

Balance sheet

As of 31 December 2019, the Group's as-
sets had a book value of NOK 2 550.8
million (1 805.0 million). Of the total as-
sets, investment properties accounted
far NOK 2 4090 million {1 731.5 million).
Total aceounting equity in the Group
wias 778.1 million {532_3 million).

Cash flow statement

MNet cash flow from operating activities
wias NOK - 4.3 miillion in 2019 (3.5 millian).
The net cash flow from investments was
NOK -379.0 million (-128.8 million). There
were NOK 6.2 million (Vipeveien 43) from
property transactions (0.0 million).

Upgrades and construction of invest-
ment properties amounted ta NOK 2947
million (135.4 million) and primarily rela-
tes to the construction of Eeks Gard, Po-
werhouse Telemark, Kammerherrelekka
and develapment of Arkaden. Net cash
flow from financing activities was NOK
4138 million (144.2 million). Net proce-
eds of interest bearing debt was NOK
3211 millien (971 million). During 2019
R8 Property has made a repayment of
NOK 24.7 million (28.6 million) in bank
loans. The net change in cash and cash
equivalents was NOK 305 million at 31
December 2019 (189 million). One of
the objectives in the financial strategy
is to define a level on liquidity buffer
that fits the size and the growth ambi-
tions for the Group.

Financial structure and
exposure

R8 Property's collective loan portfalio is
comprised of long and short-term finan-
cing in the Norwegian capital market.
At the end of the year, loans totaled
NOK 1 581.2 million (1 123.7 million), 36
per cent (25 percent) of which was tied
up in different interest rate swaps. The
overall loan portfolio has an average
time to maturity of 3.2 years.

Average interest cost at 31 December
2019 was 4.45 per cent (3.9 per cent).

As a general principle R8 Property's fi-
nancing is based on a negative pledge
of the Group’s assets. The Group has
adopted a financial strategy with a me-
dium loan-towvalue ratio. The Group’s
loan-to-value ratio at 31 December 2019
was 65.6 per cent up from 64.9 percent
at the end of 2018.

Eventz after the balance sheet dote:
see "Outlook”

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND
ALLOCATIONS

In 2019, R8 Property AS, the parent
company of the Group, made a profit
after tax of NOK -9.9 (-1.8) million, az
set out in the financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with the Norwegi-
an Accounting Act and Norwegian ge-
nerally accepted accounting principles.
The Board proposes that the profit after
tax of NOK -9.9 (-1.8) million is transfer-
red to retained earnings for 2019,

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Annual General Meeting in April
2019 elected George Emil Aubert
{Chair) for 2 years, Christina Sundby,
Tommy Thovsland, Leif Oddvin Jensen,
Runar Renningen for 1 year and Knut
Brathen for 2 years as ordinary dire-
ctors, until the next annual General
meeting in 2020. There were & ordina-
ry board meetings and 9 extraordinary
board meetings in 2019.

Health, Environment and Safety
Every board meeting includes a report
of current HSE status, events and devi-
ations - and are treated according to
standards.
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OUTLOOK

The Morwegian economy is, along with
the rest of the world, in uncharted wa-
ters due to the corona pandemic. The
rood ohead is uncertain, hopefully the
next couple of quarters will provide a
sense of direction for both the pande-
mic's impact on general health and he-
althcare - and also economic and finan-
cial outlook.

We expect that the pandemic will have
substantial impact on our business in
2020, the total effects is too early to
determine. We expect our total revenue
and received rent to decrease across
operating segments, but the effect will
vary - with some segments more im-
pacted than others. In times like these
we cherish our diversified portfolio of
tenants, with a basis of 25 percent of

income from public tenants - anather 25
percent of our porttolio rent is genera-
ted from lorge ond solid tenants within
telecom, banking etc - giving R8 Proper-
ty o sound foundation to weather the
storm in these extroordinary times,

On the financial side decreasing inte-
rest rates will contribute positively to
our running financial costs and averall
cash flow.

The night is darkest before down, and
although the current situation is chal-
lenging, we believe that there is light at
the end of the tunnel. Through dedicati-
on, innovation and a highly skilled group
ot employees, the Board is aiming for B8
Property to be an even stronger compa-
ny post corona pandemic.
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CONSOLIDATED Statement of total comprehensive income

1 January to 31 December
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS R
R8 PROPERTY AS -

Renial income B 80 755 70 149
Other aperating revenue 13 635 13 581
Total operating income 113 381 83730
Maintenance and other operating expenses 10 34 443 17 876
Other property-related expensas g, 10 1088 877
Administrative expenses 10, 11 36 143 24 D49
Total operating costs 71674 42 803
Met income from property management 41717 40 827
Changes in fair value from imeestmeant properties B, 14 7B 664 a7 626
Operating profit 120 381 78 553
Share of profit of a joint venture E 14 364
Interest and ather finance income 12 3 105 1304
Interest and other finance expense 12 -47 360 -30 350
Net realised financials 44 255 14 682
Unrealised changes in fair value of financial instruments 7.8 509 B 593
Net financial items -43 748 8088
o PR, o : - . — =0 Profit before tax T6 635 T0 465
Statement of total comprehensive income P,
statemeant ol total com ensive INcol Tax sxpenss 33 17 458 a7
Profit for year 58177 60 T33
Bolance sheet - assets 80
: & Total comprehensive income for the year 59177 60733
Bolance sheet - equity and liabilities 81 Profit attributable to:
Equity halders of the company 48767 58424
_ Man-controlling interest 10411 2 308
Statement of changes in equity =P
_— - Total comprehensive income attributable to:
e e e > Equity halders of the company 48 767 58 424
olatement of cosh Tows B3 Man-controliing interest 10411 2 308
Notes ] Earnings per share:
Notas : oninuing :
Basic=Diluted {(NOK) 27 29 48

Mates 1 through to 28 form an intearal part of the consalidated financial statements.



Balance sheet
Assets

All amouwnis in NOK thousand

NOM-CURRENT ASSETS

Defered tax asset
Other intangible assets
Total intangible asseis

Investment property

Citther operating assets

Right-of-use assets

Taotal property, plant & equipment

Imvestment in Bssociates and joently controlied entities
Loans o relates parties

Other long-term recaivables

Total financial assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Imventory properties

Trade receivables

Other recaivables

Other receivables to related parties
Tatal current receivables

Cash and bank deposits
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

Motes 1 through to 28 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statemeants.

K1)

14
13

7.25

17
15
16
7.25

18

7 630
7 630

2 408 000
1238

2410 238

i
aTor

2421 575

7 605
12 607
27 166
30 585
78 163

51 040
128 203

2550778

1731 500
5733

1737233
406

8821
303z

12 448

1757 880

10 518
16 D65

26 583
20 490
47073

1 B0« 963

Balance sheet
Equity and liabilities

Al amounts in MOK thowsand

LIABILITIEE

Interest-bearing debt
Defered tax liabdity
Financial derivatives

Total nen-current liabilities

Trade payables and other payables
ing debt

Debt to related parties

Total current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

19
19

27

B
R

REH

Notes 1 through to 28 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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4 8930
200 291
134 420
aTI8zB
64 653
778131

B40 543
&4 591
11 789
T45 G623

74125
a31 732

1 026 724
17726847

2550778

31.12.2018

3411
117 406
43 906
320 220
47 358
532 305

053 718
71647
11 354
1036 759

65 854
170 044

235 888
1272657

1 804 962
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Statemen_t of _ Statement of cash flows
changes in equity 1 January to 31 December

All amounts in NOK Thousand

Al amounts in NOK thousand
HNote 2018 2018
al 01.01.2018 2 600 3 500 6858 281 652 - 274 410
i e : : ; b s widpt Profit before tax - 76635 70 465
Capital increase 26,04, 2018 811 113 906 Z i . 114 818 Eupavmdnterealsﬂifeaamhamfmrnfimlm]mm 12 4T 360 27 437
Hon-authoised increase in capital - " 3T 812 B - T @12 Share of profit of a joint venture fe -14 354
Change in non-conirolling inferes! - - . 244 4E 050 45 204 Interest and fees paid on leans from financial institutions 42 793 -3 TR
Cesl of aquily ransactions direelly in squity - e . = -7EQ Depreciation and amortization y 13 ™ 1538
Equity & 31.12.2018 d411 117 406 43 910 320 220 47 358 532 305 Change in market value investment properties 14 -T8 G54 3T 626
Prafit for year - - - 48 TET 10411 B8 177 Change in market value financial instruments s | 508 6 543
Comparale merger (oonsembusjon) as of 20008.2019 BS 10845 - - - 10734 Change in working capital -T (v -3673
Capital increase as of 20032019 300 a7 512 =37 812 - - . Met cash fiow from operating activities -4 783 3453
Capital increase as of 09.05. 2019 278 34 T25 . 35 002
Capital increase as of 27.11.201% B5E - 120 230 130 DBS & : . _
- ' s el ﬁmﬁ;mgﬁn;Tnﬂmmﬂmms EZ_M e
Decredte in non-contraling ineres - - . 4 B41 -24 592 =20 151 Fimgiume of Sl 1l nf ot
Cnsl o ety ransaciions dirsclly in squily = 808 » % 08 Upgrades and construction of imvestment properties 14 -F04 604 -135 554
Equity at 31.12.2018 4830 200 281 134 420 373 E28 64 683 778 131 Purchase of investment property ) 14 48658
Purchase of intangible assets and other plant and equipment 13 -B35 -362
Holes 1 through ta 2B form an imlegral pan of the consolidated financisl slatements. Het cash flow from investment activities -378 %85 -128 770
Proceeds interest-bearing debt 20 345 86T 125 752
Repayment interest-bearing debt 20 -24 BTH -26 G40
Met payment of loans io other related parties -16 300 -11 T4
Procesds from equity 19 130 085 50 900
Cost of equity transactions 19 B 4TS
Purchase of shares from non-controling interests -20 151 -
Met cash flow from financing activities 413818 144 243
Change in cash and cash equivalents 30 550 18 926
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 20 400 1 564
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 51 040 20 480

Motes 1 through to 28 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Events after the date of the statement of financial position

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

R8 Property AS ("the Company") is (together with its subsidiaries "*R8
Property” or "the Group") dedicated to the development of modern
and forward-locking office properties, hotels and shopping mall. These
must not only make positive economic and social contributions to the
community but must also be particularly progressive in environmental
terms. The Group owns and manages 32 (18) buildings with a total area
of approximately 112.9 (70.0) thousand square meters. As of 311219 the
real estate portfolio had a market value of around NOK 2 409 (1 731.5)
millien. R8 Property's strategic areas are Telemark, Vestfold and Oslo. The
Group has its head office in Dokkveien 10, 3920 Porsgrunn.

The consolidated financial statements were adopted by the Company's
Board on 13 May 2020

NOTE 2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ACCOUMNTING POLICIES

The most important accounting principles applied are described below.
These principles are applied in the same way for all periods presented,
unless otherwise indicated in the description.

GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared based on the going con-
cern assumption. This is based on an evaluation of the financial position
and budgets and forecasts for 2020. R8 Property group has an equity
of NOK 778 million and positive result in 2019. The group has short term
debt that is due in December 2020. The company has been in dialogue
with the banks, and they have confirmed their intention of renewing the
loan facilities depending on formal approval. Liguidity management is an
important and prioritized task, especially due to high activity and costs
related to project development. The board was pleased with the private
placement in 2019 that generated gross proceeds of NOK 130 million,
and the company will alse, if necessary, take actions in 2020 to improve
the liquidity situation.

Events after 31 December 2019 have a significant impact on the financial
statements, and the company follows the situation closely and is prepa-
red to take the actions necessary: see 'Outlook’ in the report from board
of the directors.

BASIC PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordan-
ce with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpre-
tations by the IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRIC), as adopted by the
EU, as well as additional Norwegian reporting requirements pursuant to
the Norwegian Accounting Act.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the
historical cost principle, with the following exceptions: investment pro-
perties as well as the Group's derivatives have been measured at fair
value.

Presenting the accounts in accordance with IFRS requires the manage-
ment to make certain assessments and assumptions. The application of
the Group's accounting principles also requires management to exercise
judgement. Estimates and subjective judgements are based on experien-
ce and other factors that are considered appropriate. Actual results may
deviate from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are continuously recssessed.
Changes in accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which
the changes occur if they apply only to that period. If the changes also
apply to future periods, the impact is distributed over the current and
future periods. Note 3 details items in the accounts that are based on a
significant amount of subjective judgement.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented on the os-
sumption of the business being a going concern.

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) in 2019

Transition to IFRS 16

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and is effective for accounting peri-
ods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 sets out the principles
of the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance
sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under 1AS 17
The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the madified retrospective method of
adeption, with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019, The Group
elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease at 1 January 2019 Instead, the Group
applied the standard only to contract that were previously identified as
leases applying |AS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. The
Group also used the practical expedients of measuring the right-of-use
asset to the value of the lease liability as of 1 January 2019. The Group
also elected to use the recognition exemptions for lease contract that,
at the commencement date, have a lease term of 12 mounts or less and
to not contain a purchase option (short-term leases), and lease contracts

for which the underlying asset is low value (low-value assets). The Group
has evaluated all its lease contracts in arder to assess whether the con-
tract fulfil the eriteria to qualify as leases according to IFRS 16. Based
on the assessment, the Group identified a limited number of lease con-
tract according to the standard. These lease agreements relate to lea-
sed company cars and building fixtures. The Group has leases of certain
office equipment (personal computers, printing and photecopying machi-
nes) that are considered of low value.

The value of the lease liabilities is measured at the net present value of
fixed lease payment due under the contract. The lease term corresponds
to the non-terminable period. Extension options are not included as the
Group is not reasonably certain to exercise these options. The discount
rate used to calculate the lease liability is determined, for each asset,
based on the rate conditions agreed in the lease contract.

The effect of adopting IFRS 16, as of 1 January 2019, is as follows:

i

{oll amounts in NOK thousonds) Lecses of company cars

NPV of the lecse habilicy 123

Following the introduction of IFRS as of 1 January 2019, the Group has
reported a right-of-use asset of tNOK 193 ond a lease liability of the
corresponding amount. As a result, the effects of the implementation of
IFRS 16 on the opening balance sheet as of 1 January 2019 corresponds
to an increase in other operating assets of tNOK 193 and an equivalent
increase in other liabilities.

Due to the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group's operation profit improved,
while its interest expense increased. This is due to the change in the
accounting for expenses of leases that were classified as operation le-
ases under 1AS 17. As the Group has elected to apply the recognition
exemptions for short-terms leases and leases of low-value assets, the
accounting for the related lease payments has not been adjusted.

The cash flow statements are not affected by the introduction of IFRS 14
as of 1 January 2019, due to the use of the simplified transition method.



CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are dll entities over which the Group exercises control of fi-
nancial and operating palicies, normally through ewnership of more than
half the capital with voting rights. When deciding whether control exists,
the effect of potential voting rights that can be exercised or converted
on the balance sheet date is taken into consideration.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and are deconsolidated when control ceases.

For accounting purposes, acquisitions of subsidiaries that do not consti-
tute a business as defined in IFRS 3, such as subsidiaries that only consist
of a building, are treated as asset acquisitions. The cost of acquisition is
then attributed to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based
on their relative fair values on the acquisition date. Expenses associated
with the transaction are capitalized under the property. In such cases no
provision is made for deferred tax.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains are eliminated.
Unredlized losses are eliminated but are considered as an indication that
the transferred asset may be impaired.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

Transaction with non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are treated as
equity transactions. If shares are acquired from a nencontrolling interest,
the difference between the payment and the proportion of the carrying
amount of the subsidiary's net assets attributable to the shares is re-
cognized in the equity of the parent company's owners. Gain and losses
arising from the sale of shares to non-controlling interest are similarly
recognized in equity.

If the Group loses contral over a subsidiary, any residual holding is re-me-
asured at fair value through profit or loss. Thereafter, the fair values are
used as the acquisition cost for accounting purposes, and the holding is
treated as an investment in an associate, in a jointly controlled entity or
in a financial asset. Amounts previously included in comprehensive inco-
me that related to the company are treated as if the Group had disposed
of the underlying assets and liability. These may result in amounts that
previously included in comprehensive income being reclassified to the
income statemeant.

Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint venture. In a joint arrange-
ment, no single party controls the arrangement on its own. The classifica-
tion depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor,
rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of contrel of an arran-
gement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Judgement
is required in assessing whether a joint arrangement is a joint operation
or a joint venture.

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have jo-
int control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The proportionate share of
realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from intragroup transa-
ctions between fully consolidated entities and joint operations shall be
eliminated. Currently R8 Property has none investments recognized as
joint operations.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of arrangement.

R8 Property classifies its investments based on an analysis of the de-
gree of control and underlying facts. This includes an assessment of vo-
ting rights, ownership structure and relative strength, purchase and sale
rights controlled by R8 Property and other shareholders. Each individual
investment is assessed. Upon changes in underlying facts and circum-
stances, o new assessment must be made as to whether this is still a
joint venture. Changes in contractual rights and obligations relating to
the underlying asset or debt and changes in the shareholders agreement
might lead to a shift in the accounting method.

In joint ventures, the Group's share of the companies' profit/loss after
tax, adjusted for amortization of excess value and any deviations from
accounting policies, are presented on a separate line in the consolida-
ted income statement. Joint ventures are recognized in the consolidated
accounts using the equity method and presented as non-current assets.
When assets are acquired from a joint venture, any gain or loss is only
recognized in profit or loss when the asset is sold by the Group. A loss is
recognized immediately if the transoction indicates that the value of the
company's current or non-current assets has fallen.

A transaction that entails a change of control from an investment in o
joint venture to an investment in a subsidiary is treated as a realization
and require that a gain/loss at the time of derecognition of the joint
venture has to be calculated and recognized in the income statement as
results from associotes and JVs according to equity method.



Investment property

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciati-
on or both, and that is not oecupied by the companies in the consolida-
ted Group, is classified as investment property. Investment property also
includes property that is being constructed or developed for future use
as investment property.

Initial measurement takes into consideration the property's cost price,
which includes direct transaction costs such as document duty and ot-
her public duties, legal fees and due diligence costs. Transaction costs
associated with properties acquired through business combinations (as
defined in IFRS 3) are expensad.

After initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value.
Investment property under construction is measured at fair value if the
fair value is considered to be reliably determinable.

Investment properties under construction for which the fair value cannot
be determined reliably, but for which the company expects that the fair
value of the property will be reliably determinable when construction is
completed, are measured at cost less impairment until the fair value be-
comes relinbly determinable or construction is completed - whichever is
earlier. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for differences in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset.
If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods, such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Valuations are performed as of the financial position
date by professional valuers who hold recognized and relevant professi-
onal qualifications and have recent experience in the location and cate-
gory of the investment property being valued. These valuations form the
basis for the carrying amounts in the consclidated financial statements.
Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as in-
vestment property or for which the market hos become less active conti-
nues to be measured at fair value.

It may sometimes be difficult to determine reliably the fair value of the
investment praperty under construction. In order to evaluate whether the
fair value of an investment property under construction can be determi-
ned reliably, management considers the following factors, among others:

+ The provisions of the construction eontract.
- The stage of completion.

+ Whether the project/property is standard
(typical for the market) or non-standard,

- The level of reliability of cash inflows after completion.
+ The development risk specific to the property.

- Experience with similar constructions.

+ Status of construction permits,

The fair value of investment property reflects, amang other things, rental
income from current leases and other assumptions market participants
would make when pricing the property under current market conditions.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the asset's carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed
when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, the car-
rying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.

Gains or losses as a result of changes in the fair value of investment pro-
perties are recognized in profit or loss as they arise and are presented
on a separate line after "net income from property management.” Invest-
ment properties are derecognized when they have been disposed.

Where the Group disposes of a property at fair value in an arm's length
transaction, the carrying value immediately prior to the sale is adjusted
to the transaction price, and the adjustment is recorded in the income
statement within net gain from fair value adjustment on investment pro-

perty.

A property used by owner is accounted for at revalued value less ac-
cumulated depreciation and amortization. An evaluation of fair value for
such properties is carried out in the same manner as described for in-
vestment properties. Increase in value of owner-accupied property is not
recognized in the income statement but recognized as a change of the
revaluation reserve in comprehensive income. An impairment of the value
is recognized against the revaluation reserve, related to revaluation of
the specific building. If impairment exceeds the revaluation reserve, the
remainder is recognized against the income statement.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as
property used by owner. Its fair value at the date of reclassification be-
comes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an investment proper-
ty because its use has changed, any difference resulting between the
carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer
is treated in the same way as a revaluation under IAS 16, Any resulting
increase in the carrying amount of the property is recognized in income
statement to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss, with
any remaining increase recognized in other comprehensive income and
increase directly to equity in revaluation surplus within equity. Any resul-
ting decrease in the carrying amount of the property is initially charged in
other comprehensive income against any previously recognized revalua-
tion surplus, with any remaining decrease charged to income statement.
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Where an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of development with a view to sale, the property is trons-
ferred to property for sale. A property's deemed cost for subsequent acco-
unting as property for sale is its fair value at the date of change in use.

Property, plant and equipment

All praperty, plant and equipment (PPE) except from investment proper-
ty is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items
and where applicable borrawing costs (see below).

Cost of an item of PPE includes its purchase price and any directly attri-
butable costs. Cost includes the cost of replacing part of an existing PPE
at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and
excludes the costs of day- to-day servicing of an item of PPE.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recog-
nized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of those parts that are replaced is derecognized. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation, based on a component approach, is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost over the assets’ estimated use-
ful lives, as follows:

+ Land and property under construction: not depreciated

- Buildings: 25-40 years;
= Other operating assets: 3-10 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year-end.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recovera-
ble amaount if it's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recovera-
ble amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are included in the income statement.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs for capital used to finance buildings under construction are
capitalized under the asset in question. When caleulating the capitalized

borrowing costs, the average interest rate on the company's debt portfo-
lio over the course of the year is used, unless there is separate financing
for the specific project. In such cases the specific borrowing cost for the
loan in question is used. When caleulating the average interest rate to
be used for the capitalization of borrowing costs, loans taken out for
specific projects are not included.

SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in the same way as in internal reports
to the Group's highest decision-making authority. The Group's chief ope-
rating decision maker, which is responsible for allocation resources and
assessing the profitability of the operating segments, has been identified
as executive board and the CEO.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the fair value of consideration trans-
ferred and the fair value of the Group's share of net identifiable assets
in the entity on the acquisition date. Goodwill arising from the acquisi-
tion of subsidiaries is clossified as an intangible asset. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the relevant cash flow
generating units. Goodwill is allocated to the cash flow generating units
or group of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the
acquisition from which the goodwill arose. Goodwill is tested for impair-
ment annually. Impairment of goodwill is not reversed. Gains and losses
on the sale of an operation including the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the sold operation.

Goodwill arising from the purchase of shares in associates and jointly
controlled entities is included under the investment in the associate or
jointly controlled entity and is tested for impairment as part of the carry-
ing amount of the investment.

Software

Purchased software is recognised at cost (including expenditure on ma-
Purchased software is recognized at eost (including expenditure on ma-
king programs operative) and is amortized over the expected useful life.
Expenses directly associated with the development of identifiable and
unique software owned by the Group and which is likely to generate
net financial benefits for more than one year are capitalized as intangi-
ble assets, and are depreciated over the expected useful life, normally 3
years. Expenses relating to the maintenance of software are expensed
as incurred.
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Development projects

Activities related to the application of knowledge to a plan or in relation
to a concept or project prior to being taken into use/production, are clas-
sified as development activities that are capitalized as intangible assets
when the Group considers it likely that the skills developed will generate
net financial benefits. Expenses that are capitalized as development pro-
jects are directly attributable expenses relating to the development of
the new skills.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not depreciated and
are instead tested annually for impairment, Property, plont and equ-
ipment and intangible assets that are depreciated are also tested for
impairment if there is any indication to suggest that future cash flows
cannot justify the carrying amount of the asset. Write-downs are recor-
ded through the income statement as the difference between the carry-
ing amount and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the fair value less cost of disposal and the value in use When
testing for impairment, non-current assets are grouped at the lowest
passible level at which it is pessible to identify independent cash inflows
(cash flow generating units). In conjunction with each financial report,
the company assesses whether it is possible to reverse past write-downs
of non-financial assets (except goodwill).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is defined as being any contract that gives rise
to a financial asset at one entity and a financial liability or equity in-
strument at another entity. Financial instruments are recognized on the
transaction date, i.e. the date on which the Group commits to buying or
selling the asset.

Financial assets are classified in the following categories:

+ Financial assets at amortized cost

- Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of
cumulative gains and losses

- Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCl with
no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition

- Derivatives at fair value designated as hedging instruments

Financial assets at amortized cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and,

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest (EIR) methed and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, mo-
dified or impaired. The Groups financial assets at omortized cost includes
trade receivables and other short-term deposit. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers.

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities ot fair value
through profit or loss and financial liabilities at amortized cost. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise loans designated
at fair value upon initial recognition (fair value option) and derivatives.
Financial liabilities at amortized cost consist of liabilities that do not fall
under the category at fair value through profit or loss.

Trade receivables and other financial assets

Trade receivables and other financial assets are classified as loans and
Trade receivables and other financial assets are classified as amortized
cost, the Group applies the low eredit risk simplification. At every repor-
ting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered
to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation,
the Group reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In
addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due. Trade receivables and other financial assets are classified as current
assets, unless they are due more than twelve months ofter the balance
sheet date. If 5o, they ore classified as non-current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank deposits and other short-

term, highly liquid investments with an original term to maturity of no
more than three months.

Currency
The Group's presentation currency is NOK. This is also the functional cur-
rency of the parent company and all its subsidiaries.

Financial derivatives

The Group uses derivatives to manage its interest rate risk. Financial de-
rivatives are not accounted for as hedging instruments but are valued at
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in the income statement.
Reqular payments are presented as interest and other finance expenses.
Changes in the value of the derivatives are presented under "Unrealized
changes in value of financial instruments".
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The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount the Group
would receive or pay to redeem the contracts on the balance sheet date.
This amount will depend on interest rates and the contracts' remaining
term to maturity. The derivatives are classified on the balance sheet as
current liabilities or non-current liabilities, depending on whether they
are expected to be redeemed under or over 12 months from the balance
sheet date.

Trade payables and other non-interest-bearing financial liabilities

Trade payables and other non-interest-bearing liohilities are classified
as financial liabilities ot amortized cost, and are measured at fair value
upon initial recognition, and subsequently at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Interest is ignored if it is insignificant.

Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest bearing liobilities are classified as financial liabilities at amer-
tized cost. Amortized cost is calculated by considering any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral port of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization is included
as net realized financial in the statement of profit or loss. The liabilities
are measured at their nominal value when the effect of discounting is
immaterial. Interest-bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities
where the debt is due for repayment less than 12 months from the ba-
lance sheet date.

PENSIONS
The Group has defined contribution pension plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly
or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, con-
tractual or veluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations
ance the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognized
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a redu-
ction in the future payments is available. The Group's pension scheme
satisfies the requirements of the Nerwegion Act on Compulsory Occupa-
tional Pensions.

TAX

The tax expense consists of tax payable and deferred tax. Tax is charThe
tax expense consists of tax payable and deferred tax. Tax is charged to
the income statement, except where it relates to items that are recog-
nized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. In such cases,
the tax is either recognized in comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method for all temporary dif-
ferences between the tax values and consolidated accounting values of
assets and liabilities. Any deferred tax arising from the initial recognition
of a liability or asset in a transaction which is not a business combination
and which on the transaction date does not affect accounting or tax
results is not recognized on the balance sheet.

Deferred tax is defined using tax rotes and laws which are enacted or
likely to be enacted on the balance sheet date, and which are expected
to be used when the deferred tax asset is realized or when the deferred
tax is utilized.

Deferred tax is caleulated and provided or reduced in the event of ad-
justments to the value of investment properties ot a nominal tax rate of
22 per cent from 31 December 2018, For investment properties acquired
thraugh the purchase of shares in property companies or not acquired
thraugh a business combination, in the event of an adjustment in value,
deferred tax is caleulated on the property's fair value.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is likely that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary diffe-
rences can be offset.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differen-
ces associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and in-
terests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able to
contral the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Nor is
a liability for deferred tax calculated upon initial recognition of assets or
liabilities obtained through an acquisition of a subsidiary not classified
as a business combination.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

R8's key sources of income include:

+ Rental income

+ Revenue from contracts with customers:

- Services to tenants including management charges
and other expenses recoverable from tenants

The accounting for each of these elements is discussed below.

RENTAL INCOME

The Group eamns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
awnership of an investment property.

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included
in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature,
except for contingent rental income which is recognized when it arises.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating le-
ase are recognized as an expense over the lease term on the same basis
as the lease income.

Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are deducted
from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease incentives are recognized
as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable peried of the lease toget-
her with any further term for which the tenant has the option to continue
the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Group is reasonably
certain that the tenant will exercise that option.

The initial direct costs and tenant lease incentives are presented as cur-
rent assets in the line item

‘Prepayments' in the statement of financial position.

Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for
dilapidations are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the
right to receive them arises.

REVEMUE FROM SERVICES TO TENANMNTS

For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, the Group
enters as a lessor into lease agreements that fall within the scope of
IFRS 15. These agreements include certain services offered to tenants
(i.e., customers) im:luding common area maintenance services (such as
cleaning, security, landscaping and snow removal of common areas), as
well as other support services (e.g., reception services, catering and oth-
er event related services).

The consideration charged to tenants for these services includes fees
charged based on a percentage of the rental income and reimbursement
of certain expenses incurred. These services are specified in the lease
agreements and separately invoiced,

The Group has determined that these services constitute distinet non-le-
ase components (transferred separately from the right to use the under-
lying asset) and are within the scope of IFRS 15. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-le-
ase) components on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services represent a series
of daily services that are individually satisfied over time because the
tenants simultaneously receive and consume the benefite provided by
the Group. The Group applies the time elapsed method to measure pro-
gress.

The consideration charged to tenants for these services is based on a
percentage of the rental income. The variable consideration only relates
to the non-lease component and is allocated to each distinet period of
service (Le, each day) as it meets the variable consideration allocation
exception criteria.

The Group arranges for third parties to provide certain of these services
to its tenants. The Group concluded that it acts as a principal in relation
to these services as it controls the specified services before transferring
them to the customer. Therefore, the Group records revenue on a gross
basis.

Total operating income consists of rental income and other eperating re-
venue. Gains on the sale of property are presented as part of the change
in fair value. Rental income encompasses the fair value of the payments
received for services that fall within the ordinary activities of the compa-
riy. Rental income is presented net of VAT, rebates and discounts. Shared
costs are capitalized alongside payments on account from tenants and
therefore hove no impact on the income statement. Shared costs are
settled after the balance sheet date.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The Group reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect
method. Interest received is presented within investing cash flows; inte-
rest paid is presented within operating cash flows. The acquisitions of in-
vestment properties are disclosed as cash flows from investing activities
becouse this most appropriately retlects the Group's business activities,
Dividends paoid to shareholders and non-controlling interests are presen-
ted under financing activities.
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NOTE 8 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
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NOTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND OTHER PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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ET-inwisi1 A5 12 &0 e Hofmay
Ciabia Holding A 10000 51 Moty
Sloras i st AS 100030 51 Mofwdy
Evradvail inwesl A5 10000 05 POty
Luschey-Heiding A5 10000 51 Morway
Earepta Holding AS, represened by Funar Ransingen - baard mamber 10000 51 Morway
Froazing Point invest AS 10000 51 oy
WPH Irveast AS EEET 034 Mofwdy
Casira sl AS S0 L] L
Hanislakaatl Halding A5 5700 [ % Misfwdy
Fill A5 5300 [ 5] .
Erak Holsing A5 EL ] 05 Pty
Shaivan nSusiner AS 5000 0= L
Kinitratin 5 AS S0 0= Misf oty
Magne Gy Siguidien 4 00 [ ] Biateniy
W Sagaiitbon 400 [ %] [
Patagon Holding A5 3200 018 Pty
Pt Hskding A5 2800 014 Mofway
Eanja og Emil Auben Logal, repmesentsd by George Emil Aubes - Chair 2700 B4 Moty
Esiita wsl AS pa il oid Mofwdy
Jhik ievasl AS 1622 LT POty
Canesd Helsing AS 1622 103 Mofway
Chirafla AS, repesrimied by Else Chksting baba Sundtsy - boand momisn 1 50 [T Hiswdy
Masiw Holsing A5 1 530 [T [
Laif Wiariesn Exslen 130 LT POty
o Hokding AS: 1000 (153 Morway
ey Firvsiem %50 13 Misfwdy
Feoteim Hobding AS B [T .
CHol Basndem AS 530 [iTiud Mofwdy
Corvisiin Fiudben k] o Mofwdy
Total 197064 L]

NOTE 20 INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AND ACCRUED INTEREST

i iale ] ol |
Fasral Maiar PO Wama Cairyng
sk sl CalTyife AT kst adhi e
Eaif it o T B4l 543 E40 543 3T AT W53 TE
Total non-culTenl inened-eading Fasilies LR B 523 40 543 BsaTe #EaTIE 3 TE
CURRENT INTEREET-BEARING LISBILITIES
e 1 1] i)l
M [T Hosa Uit Camyng
il il ahsil  Caimyis) aimdai ik ik Foerl
= a1 732 931 7= 31 73z 170 a4 170 0ed 170 =4
Tl EaslTadid Nl -t ing Ralelities |1 7ae 931 722 a3 Az 170 B4 170024 170 et

i St Mtk SGITILT okt red's Mo o1 31 Dacernitar 2010 was 2 83 por sl
Tira: Pl adS Ll o oMM clide ol IETH PRSETed ialis "Haaaimaiil piosety™ i ih sllament of Baneil poslion.

MORTOAGES
T Ghrus'ss itaaruirn] i Bl ) T Pt SOy B Owing HM @xlinnal paries. uSing Resatve phdge £ & e mainky Lsing intra-grous loans. Tosgat & Skien AS, Mo
14 A%, Fy Famringspak AS, gata 2 Saien AS, Muligl By AS, Homvin Itsansgale 6 AS, Hammarhemelaika A5, Herr Ibsens Oate 40-42 Oslo AS, HIG 40-42 Prosjst A3 and A3

Maragement AS & Banced it own balancs St

NOTE 21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - RECONCILIATICN OF LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NOTE 22 TAX
Al armeunls nROE Diisand
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2010 £
Tas payabic 4 -
Chiangs in Selemed tas o profit and s 17458 972
i i o b o 5 ¥
INCAOTE 10 QEpEnEE 17458 a7
TEMPORAAY DIFFERENCES

2010 DTS
Fiapd assits 71 104 447 e
Pt and ivss accoent 207 T
e ity 3034 2398
[ — 11 7RG -1 304
Pl Mamporary diflerences 857 450 43 ETH
LT p—— ITIOGE 114508
Elasis for defaries s 384 50e 331 TER
Datared tas B4 501 TOTED
Deferred tax in tha balance sheet B S TOTEG

g
E
E
®
&
53

Corkl of dalily ¥ard aohoe dwactly in sguity o0

Oty pesrrarnand diflenenods & B -13 08l
Changes it Kimoaaly Sharens B5 018 -B 86
Changas it las caimy-Wfmars 185 2ED 2783
Profil for ba g poses L] o
Tas pasyabde on thi balancs shee -

Tax payabke on the balanes s = =
T e oo i Oea’s: ol Didlos (o diffiers Bom M ol ool Mied woild arie g h woighd seifage tis iale apy 1o gt o T O ) el i PO

Pirofin fi et ufposes Muliphod by nominal e ree 18 BED h 168 M7 pacti]
Tz 0f plimanenl S BES i1 -3 113 48
Efiect of changs i las rase o 73 b X2 g il - - -3 2E3 48
Taw afion! on Say o ki 1 e Ron wilh o oty fonwad -2ET B k)

Tax gxganss fof SoLounling perposes 17458 e TR 158

2010 28
Opaning balanca a 01.01. T0TED 51330
Tax Trmugh i 1t 17 458 G2
Aetopuisatinn of S Siianii -3 S W77
Mt dafarmod s @ 31,12 B4 5 TOTED

Ditermad tan Gaslty B4 501 TigaT
[T —ry g -ESD
Mt @efarrial lax B4 50 ToTER

Thae Gt N applad T o rub b o i Saber sl la i o mill Ui punchiaie of Sfafed i SRODey COSDaNRS Tal 3k f0l aoguied Foudh & usiness combinaton. TR Seand el dolemed
(=1 el ik Tl cfbaanio b v Vi sy ol SN Ol acoounting walu of inveElmen ropaitis. Defesad 6 Eked 10 (i RSEpe g @il changi in e wilod of N e
propars ab 31 Daonmber 209 & NOK TS 395,

o |
I
|
:
£
5;
;

Dk lan lsds b B v afted o Ban 12 monifa - -E50
Dk lan Sakids b0 Do ol wilhin 12 monhs - -
- 550

Dharber rad o ab s,
Drlarvad tas abelily reorsasn afer mone han 12 sontfhs. B3 236 TIHT
Drbavad tas Bablily foworsasn within 12 monifa 13885 119
B4 58 TianE
Deforrad las Rabiliies () B4 581 T155T

NOTE 23 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Bl airounts i NOK housans

2050 =8
Trade parpaliey 3E 33 e
Tradhe paryabies Sous g ol
sy pay owea 1704 1804
LT s TR e il i 2043 3047
I REE S ] 0 BE1 £313
O B bilitis. 2Im 23547

Total vade payablis and other Rabibtas T4 i3S -2

m



NOTE 24 SUBSIDIARIES

Al amieanits i MO Moikand

T Gy comesise of T fallowing lgal enilies a1 31 Decemter 3019,

*mﬂHqﬂmmmunmmmmmmmwmmmmumwmn

“~)RE Holods AS e S0 of the shanes in Kasmarhensslaiie AS. Volg fights adguivele Wy S o cweaed by Bara Ko Bl A3,

Thar Sirvsp is cordatenad hading contel of compania in which e Gious hokds SIS of thi shanes, nasmrly Doidoarien Liteidog AS and K A Thicss: i B fully
ST of e L=

NOTE 25 RELATED FARTIES

Al measiis i NOE Foimand

Tha: el parent of i Groud & RE Greup AS. Thi Group's ullimaie cenireling party B b Emd Edlaasd.
Thar: Girvs acyidngd DN of the shases in Valona AS fros Rl Onows AS D004 20100 @t @ e of 0K S5.000. Th: rascsethon P B Dok on marked vl

T Goei’s IrRfcachions. and balances wilh oifed SRouD COMEENEs in 20710 as mainky relaied 1o nental incems, propery
guras: G Showh in s 1ok buoe.

¥ L, I, '"'_'k- 15 ' """"I'h-w

2T 1 TR

Feenital income 530 g
Oy Eptaling rnains 38 119
Dpseiating costs 0162 5307
Eialancu shs

Febtahaatids. 5 “
Loars 30585 B
Dokt 20 368 -
Fayables - 4
Trat Gt @l GEquind Serwices [0 & relaled fany i 19 of 0K 1 308 which S Considemd i aodiions o NveSIment oy and aljusiod fof in e v of IrEsmen progety.
NOTE 26 AUDITOR'S FEE

NOTE 27 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Eabic @amings pir share i calculaed by divicing T a1 pofl aVilusithe 1o shasnoloen by Ml waighied 2veise number of Ordnary Shares cutilending Suring e year, AB Progey Ias ol issued ool o
D il SITISRAS mieh Narve @ dlutiee @flact o Dutslanding shares.

Tiokal oot it inecemid T et ylas SITEabie 0 dquity Mot of T Company (MOK Noukang) 48767 58424
Avifaga fumber of outstansg shares (e 10) 1€8TE3E 1 ITBATS
Bisic @amings (i share (MO} 2800 45,58

NOTE 28 EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

O 3l Jarusary 2000 A Fropeny AS comelted pan ona of e pusthiss of Evshe Busingss Space — arquining 50 i 0 GCEanGe Wil 10 SHan PUATHaSS SN Signed in 200
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bonshif] SRS Sl S AT,
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appita. &5 pancant of i fevenus. Roldl Food 4 Beetrage and Hobels ane B Sendimnis xpaibinding e geses] affe o in chATH, O s @i thad Food 4 Be i will Py rasbeorad i i
ity el ning social Brilations whilt w dxpind Hobolk ard Fisll segments 10 be dfoll fon an exdended paiod of Gea.

Prm-i,-hu-lﬂnuu-E.mugmdnu“mqﬁdﬂrﬁnmmwmm“k—qH—hwumnhﬂﬂihnﬂlﬂttﬂuLl'url.lrlyh

traved @ Somntions. D pegerty POMsE0 & wasd iy by an ha and updated scoussled valuations al the end of 01 2030 i din
s.ﬂww.mu.u-mnun.ﬂ—puummnﬂmmmmmmmamwmmmummum
twarets T Nolal propanty porfolic.

Tha sharp dacling in inlbies] rales (MEB0R) wil positwaly nluines fof BRantial coss of M §rougs non-feid G 0ans. Al e S Limd oo Geid G0 Dan (Le. nees] il swvags) will b negativaly afecied,
aspiially in O {and b Some enienl 02 N0

W o] S E T o i RIS S G ETG ik, ST Ok TR and relnancng sk - wilh ol sl eosinal Bnancing coming B Danks. we Do e dokl I D b, iy i bk,
SERTES Nirel (poedd Maning and Can handk S By negatiha changes in property wakae.

Do en B podianlial Cooroid- 19 effeots on D i il P il 10 i @nd 2010 olduai oML a o i wiling From &l nancial neluions abou e il whang T ol

CUMCDITHE & Sy i el Sedi i o iy munmminm—mmﬁm il Sl abovd, Med B & el of IDSSas relandd D IenEs] Swagl and 3
dOiTREsd N el of Pveslen poperkis whch all i aJgMgals NSl & ity 1 i, D0 iy 10 guantily T aflecs o w. Plasa b 2 o Tl ot




Statement of income
1 January to 31 December

Al amounits in NOK thousand

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Noi 20 i
R8 PROPERTY AS ol pratog o aos o

Cost of goods sold 5 -
Payroll expenses 2 8 676 B 447
Depredation expenses (1] -
Oiher operaling expenses 2 10 047 5169
Total operating costs 18 797 116838
Operating profit -8093 -3782
Income from subsidiaries - 581
Oihar financial incame -] Z 631 1127
Otheer finandial expenses 9 5 346 2B0
Met financial llems 2 TIT 1430
Profit before tax -11 710 2313
income tax expensad -income 3 -1 856 -4B3
Profit for yess -9 854 -1 830
Statement of income 15 Allcicsted s Tollgars
Diividend = %
Translemed o oiher equity ] -8 854 -1 830
Baolance sheet - assets 114 Total allocated -0 854 -1 830
Bolance sheet - equity and liabilities N7
tatement of cash flows 118

MNotes 120




Balance sheet
Assets

Al amounis in NOK fhousand

NOMN-CURRENT ASSETS
Deferred tax asset
Intangible assets

Tolal iMangible assels
Inwvesiments in subsidiaries

Loans o groug companies
Investments in essocialed companiss:

Oiher long-lem racaivables
Total financial assets
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade repeivables

Oiher recefvables

Loang o groug companies
Tolal currend receivablies
Cash and bank deposits
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

&

10

474
474

382 13

382 1A

2048

781

190 268

232724

33 485

1218

4 658

5874

Balance sheet
Equity and liabilities

All amounts in NOK thousand

Maote

EQUITY

Pald-in agquity B
Share premium
Other paid-in equity B
Total paiddn equity

=]

Retainad eamings. B
Total retained eafnings

TOTAL EQUITY

LIABILITIES

Dedemed ba liatility

Liabilties o group companies

Total non-currend liabilities

Trade areditors

Liabilties to group companies 5
Pubilic duties payabile

Other short-tem liabilities
Total current liabiities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

otes 1 through 11 farm an inlegral part of the financal slalements.

Forsgrunn, 13 May 2018
Board of Directors for R8 Property AS

Em-g-EliML T: 'I'hmgd
1305.2020 Imm
Geonge Emil Aubert Tomnmy Thowsland
Chair of the: Board EBaam member
@M-ﬂﬂdw Lagaily signed by
Kinant Briten Lot Cddvin Jensen
1305.2020 13082020
Enut Brathen Ll Oddvin Jensen
Board memier Boar member
@%Wb
Emil Eriksrod
1A.05.2020
Emil Erikssad

CED

2018

4930
186 782
180 736
382 458

-4 683
-4 683

ITTTIS

2070
58786

1400
62824

441 326

@L-sﬂ_rﬂwdhv
Christina Sunsdby
12.05.2000

Ele Christina Marka Sundivy

Board member
@Mww
Funar Renningen

13.05.2020

Runar Rennngen
Board member

2B

3411
113 805
o0 226
207 544

511
5171

212715

8116
o116

Iy



Statement of cash flows
1 January to 31 December

Al amounts in NOK thousand

Prodfit before tax

Interest and fees pald on keans from finencial institutions.
Write-down shares in subsidiaries

Group conbributicn

Depreciation and amortisation

Change in rede creditors and trade debtors

Change in other provisions

Met cash flow from operating activities

Purchase of busin2ss net of cash

Purchase of intangible aasats and other plant and equipment
Met payment of loans 1o associetes and jointly controlled entities.
Met cash flow from investment activities

Met change i lisbdties from group companies
Procesds from equity

Cost of equity trensactions

Met cash flow from financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents a1 beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

10

oo o

208

-1 Ti0

4 500

3

-6 106

-45 244

-45 701

58 112
130 086

710686

19 259
4 658
3.7

2018

-2313
B3

1280
BOS
-T56

24 100
24 100

-7T 568
50 BTT
-g75
-18 686
4 656

4 658
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5 '-_'T_ 44 =

k; Events after the date of the statement of financial p

Thee anmual accounts have: been prepared in compliance with the Accounting Act and accounting prindples generally acospled in Norvway.

Use of estimates

Thee preparation of finandal in complk with the & gl dect requires. the: use of esti The application of the company's acc g principles also requine
management o apply assessments. mmn:wmmmm:mhdﬁmﬂm nman-ﬂnﬁmun
sigrificant for the finandial stalements, are desoribed in the notes.

in in subsidiaries, ! and joint
Subsidiaries are all enfities over which the Group exendses conirol of fimancial and operating polides, nomally through oenership of mone than haif the capital with voting rights.
Msociates are oompanies over which the Group has: significant infusnce but mot control. Significant infuenoe nomaly exists whens the Gmoop's mvestment repressnts betwesn

20 and 80 per cent of the capital with voting aghis_

Thee cost method is applied D rvesiments in subsidianes and associates in She company aocounts. The cost price is increased when funds are added fhrough cpital inoesses or
when group conbributions are made io subs Dvademnds T nl'ﬂr'l*mbm Mﬂﬁumﬂi‘qﬁ:pﬂhﬂrﬂuﬂdmﬂ*hpﬁﬂm
redecied as a reduction in pundt cosl. Dividend) isution from ane reds i in the same year as the subsidiary makes a provision for e
mmdﬂmnrﬂdnmmﬁmihmm

Classification of balance sheet Hems
are dassified as current assets if they are fo be repaid within one: year afier the transaction dale. Similar orileria apply bo liabilties. First year's instalment on long ferm liabilities and
Iong term receivables are, however, not dassified as short berm liabilies and curent assets.

Taxes

Thee {2 charge in the income statement includes bath payable taxes for the penod and changes in defermed tax. Defermed tax is caloulaied ai relevant tax rates on the basis of the
temporary differences which exist between acounting and &ax values, and any carmy forward losses. for ax purposes at the yeasend. Tax enhancing or e redudng iemporany
diflerences, which are = or may be i in the same period, have been afiminated. The disdosure of defemed tax benefits on nel e reducng diffesenoes. which: hone
not been siminaied, and cary forsard |osses, is based on estimated fulure eamings. Defermed tax and tax benefits which may be shown in the balance sheet are presenied net.

Tax reduction on group confributions given and tax on group contribution received, booked as a reduction of oost price or taken dieectly to equity, are booked divectly against tax in
the balance shesst (offset against paryable toess i the group confribution has afecied payable taves, and offs=t againest deferred taxes if the goup confribution has affected
defermed taoes). Deferned tax is reflecied a1 nominal value.

Gash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cazh on hand, balances on bank somunis and nef depasits in the group acoount scheme. The difference in met deposits in the company’s
acoount im the group acoount scheme and net depasits in the: group acoount scheme for the Growp overall will be presented as intercompany balances.

Cash flow statemens
Thmlmmhn mmmnhmmm-ﬂ cash squivalents include cash, bank depasits, and other shor term investments which
by and with ming ge sk can be corverted imo known cash amounts, with due date less than thres months from porchases date.
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NOTE 2 PERSONNEL COSTS AND OTHER REMUNERATION

Al amounts in HOK thousand

Wages and salanes & B0 B3R
Social securiy costs 1022 Taa
Pension costs defined confribution plan 417 262
Other remuneration 438 byl
Total B ETE & 44T
Pumber of fulltme sguralents 5.0 3.0
Mumber of employess at 31.12 T a0
The Geoup's pensian scheme satisfies the mqui af the i gian Aci on Compulsony Occupational Py
Mo loansisureties have been granted bo the: CEO, Chair of $he Boand or other relaied parties.
The tatal tion of the: CEC consists of a fined package of satary and benefits suppl | by pension and i armang
SENIOR EXECUTIVE AS AT 3112318

Bonms Benedfs in kind Pension costs Total nemuneraiion
Emil Erfssrad, CECQ G2t . &7 17 113 BAS 1 807 553
Eirik Engaas, CFO {from £1h March 2009 921 493 . 12 43 B4 BOE San 1

George Emil Aubert, Chair 200
Ti y Thowsland, baard L 78
Else Christina Maria Sundiy, board & 78
Knut Brathen, board member 75
Leif Ocdebvin Jersen, board member 78
Funar Rarningen, board member T8
Erl Eriksnad, board ber (resigned board ber during the year] 100
@ivind Gundersen, board member (resigned board member during the year] 25
Erik Gudbrandsen, board member (resigned boand memiber Lrst year] .
Total Too
AUDITOR'S FEE
5 0
Statnory audit 180
Other amsirance servoes .21
Total auditor's fes (excl. VAT) B2
MOTE 3 TAX

All amounis in HOK thousand

Tax payabie -
Chamge in deferred fax on prof and loss «1 888
Change in defered tax on comprehensi .
Income tax expense -1 BBG

Foed asseis e
Profit and loss acoount .
Ot difimrenoes 13 836
Infmrest rate seap -
Mt temporary differences jEE-TH]
Tax loszes camied fonwand =11 051
Basis for defemed tax a5z
Deferred {an 20
Defered tax in the balance sheet a2

IHCOME Thx PAYABLE 15 CALCULATED AS FOLLOWS

Profit before tax =11 10 =2 313
Cost of equity ransactions dirscly in equity i} 4T85
Other permanent differences 4 Bz 116
Changes in emporany differences L] .
Ghanges in loss carmpsforsards . «19
Profit for tax purposes =T ROk =3 180
Tax payabie on the balance sheet . =
Tax payable on the balance shes =

Pt for acoounting punposes multiplied by nominal tax e oF BT Fird 532 sl
Tax on pesmanent di L] o Fi) al
Effect of change in tax rate from 23 per cent b 22 per cenl - - ) =1
Tax expense for acoounting purposes -1 M7 18 £} x

From the income year 3018 the tax rmbe on nomal income i reduced from 23 per cent o 22 per cent.

Prior year's parabl be=rs is changed in order bo include a wrable: from an ac lizhed merger with the company Bstieien BEE-S8T AS. The

mdhmmhmﬂmmdmiﬂ.mmlh 'l‘d'-rrqe:h:m EX% to Z2% tax rate) of the receivable from she
COTPOIaie TEIpeT.

NOTE 4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Degrediation plan Linear

NOTE 5 BALANCE WITH GROUF COMPANIES

AN amounts in NOK thousand

LOANS TO GROUP COMPARIES
- 01 0]
RA Urban Estxie AS 2B e ..
R Odfiee AS . Ty
RE Hol=ls AS 2 a2 i)
RE Maragement A5 . 1428
R Home AS 5423 -
R Project &5 & BA0 =
Ri Consuling Group AS 118 .
Etveien SE5A5T AS 13 e .
Total 31 ARR 42 458

Loars to associates autlined abowe is due in the next 12 months. The company has mo recsfables due afier 12 months from the reporting date
LIABILITIES TO GROUP COMPANIES

2019 2014

Ractwsgata 2 Skien A5 16 385 4116
Walore AS 139 .
R Offiee AS 3410 .
RB& Maragement AS 2 a8 -
RE Group AS 16 455 =
Estveien GE505T AS 13 681 .
Porsgnann Kesngspark AS & B -
Total 50 THE G116

RE Property has given group confribulion io Ssbeien S68-887 AS in 2015 for e amount of SNOK 13 581

Diefttt 1o associates oullined above is due in the nexd 12 months and considered as current abilties. Furthesmone, the comparty has mo outstanding debt due after |
years.



MOTE 6 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The company has during fhe year acquired Yalone AS from RE Group for mMOK 48,5, The irensaction happened during the end of the second quarier. The

NOTE 7 BANK DEPOSITS

All amounis in HOK thousand

s s
Bank deposits 23833 4218
Tied bank deposits 284 are
Tofal bank deposits 237 4 688

MOTE & SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

R# Property’s share capital is MOK 2,930, 180 divided into 1,572,084 shares, with each share having a par value of NOK 2 8. R Property has one dass of shares. All shanes
provide equal rights, induding She right b any dividends. Each of the: shares camies one vole. There ane no share options or aother nights {0 subscribe: for or aoquire shanes issued
by RB Property. Meither RS Property nor any of its subsidi direxiiy or indinecily owns shares in $he Company.

Az of 311 December 2019 R& Property had 47 shareholders. Nonsegian imvestons held 100 per cent of the share capital

The: table below sefs oul the change in share capital, the average numiber of shares the lasi year, the largest shareholders af year end, and shares owed by direclors as of 31
December 2019

capial  premum

{INOK) [ o]

A1 Jamsany 1 354 00 14m 113 508 a0 2% 1M 212 M5
Corg mierger {k dusjon) as of 29.03 2018 1) L0 BS 10:848 - 10734
Capital increase as of 28002019 3 120 038 Apd ar g2 (AT B2 - -
Capital increase as of 09.06.2019 3) 111 118 278 3a 728 - - 35 002
Capital increase as of 27112019 4) 342 3 55 - 125 0 - 130 D&E
Casi of equity ransadlions: dieecily mn eguity - - - (E0E) - S0
Profit for the year - - - - (5 54y 9 B5)
Af 31 December 2018 1872 D6 4530 156 Te2 180 T (4 BTy AT TTA
Paidein capital amounts fo tHOK 382,488 and consists af thOK 4,530 in share capital, 106 156,752 in shane premium and 1IN0 180,768 in other paid-in capital.

1) The Subsidiary Bsteien S85-E8T AS has imph a merger with Hagakilen AS. The Merger is camied out 25 a corp memger i dursgan in which shareholders in
the transier company receive shares in RE Property AS. The ion of shareholders consists of 34,076 shares in A8 Property AS. The transaction has been accounget for in

the 2014 financial statement.

Z) Equity was increased by a peivaie placerment comeerting a debt of 1O 37 812 by suing 120,038 shores. The transaction has besn registersd in Brennaysunds regisinens as
of 26,08 2014,

) Equity was increased by a privaie placemnent 09,05 201% when comerding a debt of (b0 35,002 by issuing 111,119 shares.

4) Erpuity was int by a peivaie pl 27112019, The capital raise was fully paid in by cash both from existing and new imestons.

The shareholders as registered as of 31 December 2015 were a5 folows:

tumber of shares

per 3112 3MS

RB Group AS, represented by Emil Exiksred « CEG 1083 280 [Ln Hanway
Bradrene Jl=nsen AJS, representsd by Leif Oddvin Jensen « board member 2HETN 15 Manway
IKAR AS, mpresemied by Kot Brathen « board member 174 158 8.1 Manway
Garucel Invest AS, rep i bry Else Christine Maria Sundiry « board merm 4T 88 24 Honway
R Holding AS 5 480 1,4 Harway
Mubert Invest AS, represented by George Emil fubert « G hair 35 000 18 Nonway
Finita & Co. AS, represented by Gaome Emil Aubert « Char 8 000 14 Hanway
Kabbe Holdng AS 25 000 1.3 Hanway
Feimbery Halding A% 2 B0 1.1 Hanway
Esterid AS 21 840 1.1 Haonway
Gambetia &5 20000 1.0 Nanway
Thavsiand Halding AS, represemnied by Tommy Thawsiand « boand member #0000 1.0 Nonway
Garl Erik Krefting 18 418 o Hanway
Jan Henrik srefang 18 496 o Hanway
Bersattatiansen AS 14 580 or HNonwany
Spartveil Invest AS 14070 oF HNonway
FRaoinas Holding AS 13 160 or Nonway
ETslmvest AS 12 600 05 Honway
Gaba Halding AS 10 000 o4 Hanway
Siensred Invest AS 10000 0.5 Nanway
Sundrvall Imvest AS 10 000 0.5 Nonway
Luciy-Hakding AS 10 000 05 Nanway
Sarepta Holding AS, represented by Funar Rerningens board member 10000 05 Manway
Freezing Paint Invest AS 10000 0.5 Harveay
MPH Invest AS & 66T 03 Hamay
Casira Imvest AS & 500 0.3 Harnway
Hardickra$ Hading AS & To0 03 Namway
Frii AS & 300 0 Manway
Erak Holding AS & 000 oA Moy
Sharven Indusirier AS bl .2 Mixtwitey
Komveien & AS :x E Nomay
Martt Sigurdssn 4 boo oz Hanway
Paragon Holding AS 3200 = Harway
Field Holding A5 :ﬂ :-.: Hameay
) Ermil Ausbenri 3 \Emil Ausbert « Chair Harway
Sanja og e Legat, represented by Gearge el ot
Jiis Invest AS 16822 0.1 Haonuay
Carucel Halding || A5 1622 0,1 Harnvwey
Giraffa AS, represeni=d by Else Christine Maria Sundby « board memiber 1 500 0.1 Hamway
Maste Molding A5 1 800 o1 Hanway
Leif Marten Stolen 1200 0.1 Hanway
Jar Holding A5 1000 0,1 Hanway
Fioager Finnstrem &80 0.0 Nonway
Rinierio Holdng AS B0 o Hanway
Chrigien Knudsen 283 00 HNonway
Total 1 572 O 100,00

NOTE 9 SPECIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

A armounts in HOK thousand

FIMANCIAL INCOME

Interest income from group companies: 2ET4 1 0
Oeher rental income =] 37
Tetal fenancial income 263 1127
FINANCIAL EXPEMSES

2018 20118
Interest expenses o group companies: L] 1™
Osher rental 280 e
‘Wirite=downes, of investment in subsidianes 4 500

=]



NOTE 10 SUBSIDIARIES

Al amounts in HOK thousand

The Geoup comprise of the following legal entities at 31 Decsmber 2019
SUBSIDIARY OF k& PROPERTY AS

Business Enquity Fesull Equaty
ofice mieresd % 3122018 31123019
F# Management AS Porsgrunn 100 1485 1583
Radmusgata 2 Skisn AS Porsgrunn 100 -1 08S Pl
FA Office AS Porsgrunn 100 3677 143 020
Ffl Urban Eslate AS Forsgrunn 100 =T 486 oG24
Rl Haolels AS Porsgrunn 100 =188 34 508
Valore &5 Porsgrunn 100 1247 a1
A Home AS Forsgrunn 100 =2 2 06S
F# Propct AS Porsgrunn 100 o i
HIG 20-42 Prosjekt AS Porsgrunn 100 i 25 588
Oshemien GES-GET AS Porsgrunn 100 426 13 084
SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES OWNED THROUGH SUBSIDIARIES:
{all of which has busi afficzin P and 100% voling rights excepl [x Uthvikling A% and lekka AS, see below
R Office AS RA Urban Estate AS Valore AS HEG 4042 Prosjekt &S Rl Projects AS
Grenlikroken § A5 Tollsoden AS Bedriftsveien 52158 AZ Herwik [bsens gate 40-42 Oslo A5 Dakicasien Usviking AZ )
Torggata B Skien A5 Mulgheienes By AS Redmyriia 20 AS | Dockovmion 20 AS
Werswikveien B8 AS | Lansgpsiol Eiendom AS Stargata 171178 AS
Storgata 1086 AS | Hemririks [Emensgate 8 A Vipeweien 81 AS
Heszebeggaten 4 AS
Porsgrumn Nasingspark AS
Mordre Foksered 14 AS RB Hateis AS RE Home AS
Vinkelbypget AS Kammerherreleicka A5 =) LUtzikten 1 AS
HEKjelleveien AS
Kongensgale 204 AS

1 RE Proects A5 owns 50% of the stanes in Dokkweien Ubdiding AS. Voling rights eguivalents ownenship. The remaining shares is owned by Dione A5
**) RA Hofels AS owns 50% of the shares in Kammerhenmeiskia AS. Valing rights equivalents ownership. The remaining shares is owned by Bane hor Eiendom 85

The Geowp s considensd haring control of companies in which the Group holds 50% of the: shares, namely Dokkweien Uhikding A5 and Kammerheneloida AS.
These companies ane being fully consolidaled as a consequence of fhe assessmen of contnol

'NOTE 11 EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

O 3rd Janusry 20240 B8 Property AS completed pari one of the punchase of Evole Business Space = acouining 50 af the in accoed, with: the share
purchase agreement sigred in 2018, Evolve Business Space’s parert company is RE Evolve AS, with mmﬁll&.y owned s hsidiaries Evwnlue Akrrsgata AS, Evolve
Bjervika AS, Evolve Sandaker AS and Evalve [T Formebu A5

The corona pandemic outhreak in 01 2020 i sspecied to howe an impact on RE Property AS, owr t=nants, financials and property values. The uncertainty connecied to pandemic

F8 Propesty®s kenar portfolio is diversified in number of tenants as well a5 in business ssciors and segments. Public lenants malke up 25% of e group's rental inoome, anoiher
5% of pur revenue comes from large private t=nants within banking, t=l=com, mswrances etc. Ouwr enant portiolio & divided inlo five difisrent segeents: Offics, Holels, Food &
Beverage, Healihcare and Hﬂd—uﬂlﬂfﬁnﬁnhwﬂytmﬂpﬂnﬂtnﬂ}zmﬂeﬂ.ﬁmﬂ & Beverage and Halels are the segmenis experiencng the
greatest effed from the pandemic, ow expectaions are thad Food £ B ge will parthy net i i line: weith dieclining sociad limitalions while we expect Hobels and Retail
segments io be diffioult for an exiended period of ime.

Property values within cor Office segment are considered sirong, especally due io public and h'g:p'rultlﬂ'r-t Huiels s = by h-ltsmdm-ﬂpﬂ:thbe:ﬁutﬂh
mast, with fulre by iin travel and ‘Our property portivlio is valued W by an il expert (h J. and at the end o
01 2020 is approximalely negative 2 pencent compared to 31, 1220148, mlnlmbnmﬂmﬂwmwﬁ.Wﬂ*ummm
devaluations going forwand with some segmenits and properties they will most likely be margnal towards the total property portiodio.

The shamp dechine in interest rates (MIBOR) will posittvely influssnce: cur financial costs on the groups: nonsfoeed rates loans. At the same ime our fixed rate loars (e, intenest ne
swaps) wil be negatively affected, espedially in ©1 (and to some extent 02 2000,

We expect an increase in risk factons such as oedi nsk, nlerest rate sk and refinancng sk « Mﬂmﬂdhﬂgmhﬂmbﬂhmhﬂmhlﬁmhﬂ
geable. C in beank agr have good mangins and can handle the ely regative changes in prop
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INDEPEMDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT

To the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of R8 Property AS

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of R8 Property AS comprising the financial statements of the
parent company and the Group. The financial statements of the parent company comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and the statements of cash flows and changes in
equity for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The consolidated financial staterments comprise the balance sheet as at 31
December 2018, the statements of comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year
then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion,

= the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations

= the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the parent
company as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway

= the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EU

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Norway, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities as required by law and regulations. We have also complied with our
other ethical obligations in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Emphasis of matter — Covid-19

We draw attention to Note 28 in the consolidated financial statements, which describes the risk,
uncertainty and the expected effects of Covid-19. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other information

Other information consists of the information included in the Company's annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
(management) are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
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based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway for the financial statements of the parent company and International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU for the financial statements of the Group, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liguidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements,

As part of an audit in accordance with law, regulations and generally accepted auditing principles in
MNorway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also

= identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or emor,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not delecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the overide of internal controf;

» obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control;

= @valuate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management;

= conclude on the appropratenass of management's use of the going concem basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a matenal uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concem, If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exisis, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadeguate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concem;

¢ evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation;

» obtain sufficient appropriate audit avidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial staterments. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Indepandent auditor's report - RE Property AS
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report and on the statements on corporate
governance and corporate social responsibility

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information
presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on corporate governance and corporate
social responsibility concerning the financial statements and the going concern assumption, and proposal
for the allocation of the result is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and
regulations.

Opinion on registration and documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Informations, it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to ensure that the Company's accounting information is
properly recorded and documented as required by law and bookkeeping standards and practices
accepted in Norway.

Porsgrunn, 14 May 2020
ERNST & YOUNG AS

e N i ]
Ill. Wl d ! . (("i".'__,{,x_.-._ —~~
Bard Erik Pedersen ;
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
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EPRA REPORTING

The fellowing perfarmance indicators have been prepaned in accordance with best praclices as defined by EPRA (Ercpean Publc Real Estale Association] in its Best
Praclices Rectmmendations muide.

ETREN EET]
EPFRA Reporiing i 31122018 3112008
EPRA Earmings per share (EPS) HOK 40 83
EPRA NAY per shane K 40,7 T4
EFRA NNNAY per share K e 48T
The defails for fhe caleulafion of e key figures ane shown in the following tables

EPRA EARNINGS

EPRA Esmings is & measure of the undedying development in the property portfolio and is calculsted as net mcome after tax excluding value changes on invesimesnt
properties, urrealised changes in the marked value of firandal derivatives and gainsfiosses on the sale of properties and their associaled tax efiects

All amounts in NOK thousand

2019 2018
Profit for pariodiyear 58177 60733
Add:
Changes in walue of imesiment properties =78 684 =37 B2
Tax on changes in value of invesiment properties " 17 306 BES4
Changes in value of nandal nstruments 500 -8 §63
Tax on charges in value of firandal insrumens " 112 1516
Share of profit jeingly cantrolied enlilies » Fair vales sdjustments . 17 533

1

&mummwwmmﬂm&s] = 3 188
Net incame norscontrolling inlerest of subsidiares 13347 2 BA&
nzmufmmmmuumm“ o2 BI6 580
Change in tax rate ™ - =3 283
EFRA Earnings 7832 11 2686

EPRA NAV AND EPRA NNMAV - NET ASSET VALUE

The objeciive with EPRA MAY is i demanstrate S fair valus of nel assels given 3 long-lerm invesiment horizon. EPRUA MAY ie calculsted as net asset value adjusted ta
include marked value of all preperties in the portioo and irtresi-bearing debl, ard o exdude ceain ems nol sxpected i orystaliss in 8 lang.serm imestment property
business model such as e . Snancal derivatives snd defered taon the marked value of investment properfies.

The objeciive with EPRA NNNAV i 1o repoct e fair value of nel assels in the Group on the basis that these are immediately realised. EPRA NNNAY is EPRA MAV adusied
16 reflect the fair value of debt and derdvatives and in ander bo include defiered tax on value changes

All amounts in NOK thousand

2018 2018
MNAV - boak value of squily TTB 131 494 453
Less Mormconirolfing inierest «54 683 =47 358
Deferred property tax 79 385 58 974
Fair value of financial derivalive instnuments B 156 8 888
EPRA NAW B02 D60 614 957
Warke! vake an prepeity partfolic 2400000 1731500
Tax walue an propery partiolia 1455 360 1 OG5 560
Basis for caloukation of fax on gain on Sake 553 650 E1 940
Less: Markel value of 1ax on gain on sale (5 per cent Lax rale) 47 BB3 33087
Mt marked value on firancal derivatives 11788 11 364
Tax an realised financial derivalives® -2 55 «2 507
Less: re=ull rom realisaiion of inancial dervabves ERE BEET
Boak value of inderest bearing debl 1681274 1123762
Mominal walue of imterest bearing debd 1681274 1123762
Bamis for calcudation of tax an realisstion of interest bearing deb = .
Less: Market vales of tax on realis alian .
EPRA MRMNAY T46 182 4T3 013

TR e G N R A S e D ST,
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DEFINITIONS

The contractual anmual rent from the properties of the Group including forward starting contracts and excluding

Cash eamings Result from property managemsant less net realised fimancial and payable tax.
Contractual rent Annual cash rental income being received as of relevant date.
Met income after tax excluding value changes on invesiment properties, unrealised changes in the market value
EPRA Earnings of financial derivatrves and gainsflosses on the sale of properties and their associated tax effects. EPRA earnings
are imended to give an indication of the underying development in the property portfiolio.
Net asset value adjusted to include market valus of all properties in the portfolio and interest-bearing debt, and to
EPRA NAY exclude certain items mot expected to crystalise in a long-term investment property business model such as e.g.
financial dervatives and defemmed tax on the market value of investment properties. The objective with EPRA
NAV is to demonstrate the fair value of net assets given a long-term investment horizon.
EPRA NNMAV is EPRA NAV adjusted to reflect the fair value of debt and derivatives and in order to include
EPRA NNMAY defemed tax on value changes. The objective with EPRA NNMAV is to report the fair value of net assets in the
Group on the basis that these are immediately realised.
Loan-to-value ("LTV") et nomanal value of interest-bearing liabdities divided by the market value of the property portfolio.
Management properties Properties that are actively managed by the company.
" i The anmualised market rent of the management properties, fully let as of the relevant date, expressed as the
e average of market rents estimated by the independent professionally qualiied valuers.
The market value of all the properties owned by the parent company and subsidiaries, regardless of thedr
Menkek woliny ol progexly porioli classification for accounting purposes.
Met yisid Met rent divided by the market value of the management properties of the Group.
Project properties Properties where it has been decided fo start construction of 8 mew buillding andfor renovation.
2 Net income from property management exciuding depreciation and amortisation for the Group, divided by net
t Cowermge Ralio (1R imterest on eeresi-bearing nominal debt and fees and commitment fees related 1o investment activities.
Taotal area Total area including the area of management properiies, project properties and land § development properties.
WALLT \Weighted Average Unexpired Lease Term measured as the remaining contractual rent amounts of the curment

lzase coniracts of the management properties of the Group.







